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Our purpose is to help clients 
meet their financial objectives.

Our goal is to be the best in what 
we do as individuals and as a firm.

Our ideas should be innovative 
yet appropriate for our 
clients’ needs.

Our execution shall be seamless.

Our service should be par excellence.

Our integrity will not be compromised.

We are BDO Private Bank.

OUR MISSION

Corporate Profile

BDO Private Bank
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We seek to preserve and enhance 
the value of our clients’ assets by 
achieving returns that outpace 
predefined market benchmarks.

We encourage diversification 
among asset classes and individual 
securities to mitigate price/market 
volatility. With these, we seek to 
grow and protect our clients’ wealth 
for the enjoyment of their successors 
and their heirs.

We customize investment 
strategies to address each client’s 
unique circumstances, as well as 
specific preferences for income, 
liquidity, and risk.

Where appropriate, we pursue cross-
border investment opportunities 
to enhance returns and provide 
additional diversification.

OUR PHILOSOPHY

Our commitment to provide 
the best financial service to 
our clients requires us to be 
prudent in our design for financial 
solutions. We undertake to render 
proper due diligence, objective 
valuation and full disclosure of 
material information. Through 
this process, we apply global 
standards in creating active 
markets for instruments we 
sponsor and offer to our clients.

Our product offerings are 
based on an open product 
architecture model, where 
clients are offered the best 
available products regardless of 
provider, an approach geared 
towards delivering the highest 
possible returns to each of our 
client groups.

In all these, we anchor our 
commitment on a solid base, a 
sound balance sheet, and a strong 
team of professionals.

OUR COMMITMENT

TO CLIENTS

• Deliver high-value products 
and quality service

• Offer innovative solutions to 
specific needs

• Provide timely advice and 
investment/market information

TO SHAREHOLDERS

• Maximize return on investment
• Manage our business with 

the highest professional, 
ethical and moral standards

• Pursue opportunities that 
improve shareholder value

TO ASSOCIATES

• Create a responsive environment 
that promotes teamwork

• Recognize individual worth 
and contribution

• Maintain and enhance the 
intellectual capital of our 
associates through rigorous 
and relevant training and 
education
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Our Commitment

Message from the Chairperson
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Dear Shareholders,

Challenging times can serve as 
the true test of our expertise 
and commitment to preserve 
and enhance our clients’ wealth. 
We believe this, and I am glad 
to share that our consistent 
outstanding performance has 
shown our capability and mastery 
as a private bank, amidst the 
volatility in most financial 
markets. This shows that we 
are truly the market leader in 
the domestic private banking 
segment.

At the heart of our commitment 
to offer the best financial service 
is our team of professionals. 
With exceptional understanding 
and consideration of our clients’ 
preferences and circumstances, our 
team harnesses the full potential 
of our wealth management tools 
so that they preserve, build, and 
transition wealth while attuned 
to the client’s vision. At the same 
time, our corporate governance 
practices, with our strong internal 
controls, enhance our reputation 
as a trustworthy partner in wealth 
management, contributing to the 
continuous growth of our assets 
and institutional strength.

This stellar performance has 
been recognized by esteemed 
independent third parties, for 
which we are grateful. In 2015, 
BDO Private Bank was awarded 
the Best Private Bank and 
Wealth Management House by 
distinguished publications such 
as Euromoney , FinanceAsia , Alpha 
Southeast Asia , The Asset , and, 
recently, by Global Finance .

I would like to thank the members 
of our Board for their support and 
guidance, our BDO Private Bank 
team for consistently working 
at a high level of expertise 
and professionalism, and most 
especially our clients for the 
trust and confidence they place 
in us. Rest assured we affirm our 
commitment to give the best 
financial services and strive to 
always exceed expectations.

Sincerely yours,

Teresita T. Sy
Chairperson
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Dear Clients and Shareholders,

As we now approach the tail 
end of a global economic cycle 
that saw low interest rates, 
along with low growth and great 
volatility in various markets, 
immediately ahead of us are the 
Philippine and U.S. presidential 
elections; in these times, our 
role as a steadying hand in the 
preservation and enhancement 
of our clients’ wealth comes into 
greater focus.

Our access to diverse investments 
in various asset classes remained 
the primary driver of our positive 
performance in 2015, helping 
mitigate the potential impacts of 
the less-than-hospitable global 
environment on our clients’ 
portfolios. By expanding our 
investment horizon last year, we 
are now able to offer increased 
coverage and timely, critical 

market intelligence to our clients 
for better-informed investment 
decisions. Our specialist team 
of wealth managers, financial 
analysts, and other professionals 
across diverse fields continue to 
sharpen their knowledge of and 
experience in wealth management 
and its complexities to be able 
to customize financial and estate 
solutions that meet personal and 
family business objectives.

Last year ’s positive financial 
results testify to the prudent, 
professional execution that 
allowed us to meet our 
shareholders’ and clients’ return 
expectations, the headwinds of 
global and national uncertainties 
notwithstanding. We posted a 
10.50% increase in assets under 
our management, growing 
from P279.34 billion in 2014 to 

Message from  
the President
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P308.67 billion in 2015. Total 
bank assets increased by 32.74% 
at P51.62 billion by the end of 
2015. Shareholders’ equity was at 
P5.574 billion, and net income was 
P668 million.

In just over a decade, BDO Private 
Bank has become a strong, 
strategic, and trusted partner of 
our clients’ growth and success, 
further signaled by the awards 
and recognition we received from 
prestigious publications in 2015. 
Thus, in this report, we share 
the extent that our high-value 
products and solutions can best 
serve both the present and future 
objectives of our clients to build 
and manage their wealth while 
they dedicate their effort to the 
business or undertaking that they 
wish to focus on.

Given BDO Private Bank’s 
successful and effective range of 
financial solutions and intellectual 
capital, we now see that it is 
possible to navigate political 
and economic changes as well as 
personal and familial intricacies 
in a most beneficial way. I would 
like to thank our clients and 
shareholders who share this belief 
and continue to be part of the 
Bank’s growth story through their 
own successes.

Sincerely,

Josefina N. Tan
President

Our Commitment
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Making Your Wealth Work for You: The Role of the Private Bank

Wealth should beget greater 
prosperity. Like the world’s finest 
wine or whisky that has been 
achieved by trusted specialists 
crafting in the most challenging 
conditions, transforming wealth 
to suit one’s needs and objectives 
requires expertise of the highest 
quality, and a sharp focus on and 
carefully studied responses to 
various externalities.

BDO Private Bank, an 
internationally recognized and 
awarded domestic private bank, 
seeks to preserve and enhance 
the value of its clients’ assets, and 
ensure their continuous prosperity 
to achieve their life goals. As 
the world changes rapidly, shifts 
in fiscal policies and political 
landscapes, global uncertainties, 
the rise of emerging-market 
economies and growth industries, 
and changing consumer 
behavior can affect markets 
and investments and, ultimately, 
the wealth that our clients have 
worked so hard to achieve.

It is the role of BDO Private Bank 
to provide the best financial 
service — protecting and 
enhancing our clients’ wealth — 
amidst this backdrop of global, 
interconnected activities.

Our Story

Prosperity
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Given the work, discipline, and 
passion that go into accumulating 
wealth, our clients can expect to 
collaborate with an expert team of 
wealth advisors and professionals 
backed by an organization with a 
solid capital base and a prudent 
management team. Our private 
banker cultivates a long-term 
relationship with our client in 
order to appreciate his/her unique 
circumstances and preferences, 
and facilitates the creation and 
implementation of financial plans 
that can yield the best possible 
returns, setting in motion one’s 
ultimate dreams.

THE VALUE OF WEALTH

BDO Private Bank’s focus is 
in helping clients meet their 
financial goals and objectives. 
We believe that real value is 
achieved when assets transcend 
monetary profit, and they are no 
longer wealth for its own sake. 
Whether for top-quality education 
or a new business venture, 
whether for insurance coverage, 
philanthropy, retirement, or the 
fulfillment of our client’s ultimate 
dream, BDO Private Bank creates 
a dynamic financial plan that 
is bespoke to each individual 
client’s circumstances, income 
requirement, liquidity, and 
risk profile.

Aware of the vast sea of 
opportunities available out in the 
world, BDO Private Bank values 
flexibility and agility even as we 
remain prudent in the design of 
financial solutions for our clients. 
Our Open Architecture philosophy 
and framework allows the Bank 
to offer clients access to the best 
available financial products and 
services across different markets, 
no matter the provider, to 
achieve our mission of “providing 
returns that outpace predefined 
market benchmarks.”

More importantly, BDO Private 
Bank values the privacy of 
our clients, and the trust and 
confidence that they place on 
the Bank. The protection of 
customer information is enshrined 
as a corporate commitment, and 
the Bank has a long-standing 
culture of discretion in handling 
clients’ affairs. All products 
and services pass through the 
rigorous evaluation of the Bank’s 
Risk Management and Credit 
Evaluation Groups before they 
are offered in the managed 
portfolio. Our relationship 
manager and wealth advisor 
make sure to recommend only 
those instruments that fit the 
clients’ investment profile, 
disclosing all risks associated with 
the products.

World-class management 
systems and internal controls 
are implemented to ensure strict 
compliance standards, ensuring 
client loyalty and satisfaction 
throughout the relationship.

CRAFTING YOUR LIFE PLAN: 
FINANCIAL AND ESTATE 
PLANNING

Our process begins with our 
client’s personal vision. With 
clear financial objectives, the 
relationship manager works 
closely with the client to identify 
appropriate asset classes that will 
comprise the client’s portfolio. 
Backed by rigorous financial and 
economic data, we allocate funds 
to various assets to optimize 
the risk and return, and ensure 
our client’s continuous financial 
independence while working 
towards a pre-defined goal.

Crafting a life plan is a vital 
stage in a relationship with 
BDO Private Bank because this 
provides both parties with a 
methodical approach to a deep 

Our Story
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understanding of the client’s 
profile. Together, we look at the 
totality of the client’s goals and 
objectives alongside investment 
horizons, the composition of 
one’s assets, tolerance and 
appetite for risk, liquidity 
requirements, and the preferred 
implementation approach.

Guided by the Open Architecture 
philosophy, the relationship 
manager proactively provides the 
client access to the most fitting 
financial instruments, and the 
necessary expertise of wealth 
advisors and analysts who provide 
various perspectives, for the 
effective, informed, and seamless 
execution of the financial or 
estate strategy.

Given the volatility and 
interconnectedness of financial 
markets, we periodically monitor 
the portfolio and conduct regular 
assessments of the externalities 
that can have an impact on 
the asset allocation and the 
performance of the investment 
in various asset classes. When 
necessary, we rebalance the 
allocation and distribution 
of assets to generate the 
best returns from the market, 
especially in times of volatility.

DRIVING WEALTH TO GREATER 
PROSPERITY: INVESTMENT 
MANAGEMENT

Armed with a thorough 
understanding of the client’s 
goals and resources, BDO Private 
Bank crafts an investment 
strategy and offers three 
implementation methods to drive 
our client’s wealth to greater 
prosperity and broader horizons.

In view of the fact that we work 
with clients who are themselves 
experienced in creating and 
growing wealth, thus seek 
to have direct control over 
his/her investment portfolio and 
strategies, BDO Private Bank 

offers Investment Execution 
to such independent individual 
experts. We offer these clients 
full flexibility in forming their 
portfolio and strategies, while 
we handle the execution 
and settlement of trades 
according to their instruction, 
keeping comprehensive 
records of each transaction for 
reconciliation purposes.

The Advisory Approach is 
designed for clients who want 
a more direct involvement in 
managing their portfolios. Under 
this engagement, we provide 
research reports on the market 
and outlook to empower the client 
when evaluating the proposals of 
their wealth advisor before any 
investment decision is made.

Clients who wish to delegate the 
management of their investment 
to the Bank avail of the 
Discretionary Managed Account . 
Our team of wealth advisors and 
analysts understand the client’s 
profile and design an appropriate 
investment portfolio, which we 
manage and monitor daily and 
discuss with clients periodically.

PROTECTING AND DISTRIBUTING 
YOUR WEALTH: WEALTH 
STRUCTURING

We understand that our clients 
want their hard-earned wealth to 
live on for generations. To help 
them achieve this, we combine 
financial and non-financial 
structures that allow them to 
efficiently manage their wealth 
for the long term.

One approach is the creation 
of an appropriate vehicle that 
can efficiently sustain the 
continuity of wealth through 
generations. This maximizes what 
is transferred to heirs or charities 
that our clients feel deeply about, 
while exercising full control over 
how the wealth is used by either.
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The Bank may serve as the client’s 
trustee to manage the assets in a 
Trust Structure and ensure that 
conditions are complied with and 
funds properly disbursed and 
managed through dispositive 
provisions or letters.

Clients who wish to strategically 
allocate their assets to an 
operating company work with us 
in the creation of a Corporate 
Structure . We provide advisory 
services that include professional 
recommendations of the legal 
structures that can hold assets, 
optimize exposures, and enhance 
the long-term integrity of 
one’s wealth.

For clients who wish to effectively 
provide for the future needs of 
their families or beneficiaries, 
whether in education, health 
care, retirement, or succession, 
we work out a well-designed 
Life Insurance policy or Special 
Needs Trust .

Throughout these three structures 
are regulatory implications, and 
BDO Private Bank assists clients 
in identifying and addressing 
their tax, legal, or reportorial 
requirements. The Bank’s team 
of specialist advisors can 
oversee the administration of 
these structures and make sure 
that clients are updated on the 
relevant laws and regulations. 
Clients will be at ease with the 
fact that their financial plans 
and investment actions are fully 
compliant and sustainable in the 
long term.

CREATING A HOLISTIC, LONG-
TERM VIEW OF YOUR WEALTH: 
ASSET CONSOLIDATION

While we encourage 
diversification to mitigate 
volatility and protect and 
enhance our clients’ wealth, 
the management of diverse 

assets with various providers 
or locations can become too 
complex as they grow in size. 
This can make it unnecessarily 
harder to meet the very goals that 
our clients set out to achieve in 
the first place. Similarly, a client 
belonging to a family with a large 
amount of wealth or an institution 
with a large pool of funds may 
need a more integrated service to 
manage all forms of capital.

BDO Private Bank’s Family Office 
Services provides clients with 
a way to actively manage these 
diverse assets and portfolios 
by simplifying the monitoring 
process under one service 
provider. Through BDO Private 
Bank’s asset consolidator, clients 
reap the benefits of simplicity 
and convenience by being able 
to get a more holistic view of 
their investments and a more 
accurate understanding of 
how the overall portfolio and 
the individual accounts are 
performing. This comprehensive 
and realistic view of one’s 
entire portfolio allows one to 
generate various efficiencies, 
and, more importantly, ensure 
continued asset growth and 
worry-free succession.

Clients looking for a single entity 
to manage their various assets 
should be very selective when 
choosing the right advisor. BDO 
Private Bank is one of the most 
trusted, responsible, award-
winning wealth management 
banks in the country, evident in 
its growth over the last 12 years, 
from P7 billion in Total Assets 
Under Management in 2003 to 
over P300 billion in 2015.

Our Story
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“Wealth is the ability to 
fully experience life.”

Henry David Thoreau
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TERESITA T. SY
Chairperson

65, Filipino. Ms. Sy was first 
elected to the board of BDO 
Unibank, Inc. (PLC) in 1997 where 
she now sits as Chairperson. 
Concurrently, she serves as the 
Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, 
and/or Director of various 
subsidiaries and affiliates of 
BDO, such as BDO Private Bank, 
Inc., BDO Leasing & Finance, Inc. 
(PLC), BDO Capital & Investment 
Corporation, BDO Foundation, 
Inc., Generali Pilipinas Holding 
Company, Inc., Generali Pilipinas 
Life Assurance Company, Inc., and 
Generali Pilipinas Insurance Co., 
Inc. She is also an Adviser to the 
Board of One Network Bank, Inc. 
(A Rural Bank). Ms. Sy is the Vice 
Chairperson of SM Investments 
Corporation (PLC) and Adviser to 
the Board of SM Prime Holdings, 
Inc. (PLC). She also sits as 
Chairperson, Vice Chairperson 
and/or Director of such companies 
as Multi Realty Development 
Corporation, Belleshare Holdings, 
Inc. (formerly SM Commercial 
Properties, Inc.), SM Mart, Inc., 
SM Retail, Inc., and First Asia 
Realty Development Corp. A 
graduate of Assumption College, 
she brings to the board her varied 
expertise in banking and finance, 
retail merchandising, and mall and 
real estate development.

Board of Directors

Our Leadership
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NESTOR V. TAN
Vice Chairman

57, Filipino. Mr. Tan is the President 
and CEO of BDO and was first elected 
to the Board on June 27, 1998. He also 
concurrently holds vice chairmanships 
and/or directorships in the following 
subsidiaries of BDO Unibank, Inc.: 
BDO Capital & Investment Corporation, 
BDO Insurance Brokers, Inc., BDO Leasing 
and Finance, Inc. (PLC), BDO Private 
Bank, Inc., and BDO Remit (USA), Inc. 
He is also a Director in Generali Pilipinas 
Life Assurance Company, Inc., Generali 
Pilipinas Insurance Co., SM Keppel 
Land, Inc., Asian School of Business & 
Technology as well as directorship in 
the Advisory Board of Mastercard 
Worldwide. He also concurrently holds 
chairmanship of BDO Strategic Holdings, 
Inc., Megalink, Inc., and One Network 
Bank, Inc. (A Rural Bank). He is a Trustee 
of the following: BDO Foundation, 
Inc., Pinoy Me Foundation, De La Salle 
University Board of Advisors, and Asian 
Institute of Management. He also serves 
as First Vice President of the Bankers 
Association of the Philippines (BAP). 
Mr. Tan’s banking career includes 15 years 
of international experience with the 
Mellon Bank (now Bank of New York-
Mellon) in Pittsburgh, PA, the Bankers 
Trust Company (now Deutsche Bank) 
in New York, and the Barclays Group in 
New York and London. Prior to joining 
the Bank, he was Chief Operating Officer 
for the Financial Institutions Services 
Group of BZW, the investment banking 
subsidiary of the Barclays Group. He holds 
a bachelor ’s degree in Commerce from 
De La Salle University and received his 
MBA from Wharton School, University 
of Pennsylvania.

JOSEFINA N. TAN
Director and President

70, Filipino. Ms. Tan is the 
President and Director of BDO 
Private Bank. Concurrently, 
she serves as Director of BDO, 
elected on July 27, 2007. She is 
also Chairman of the Board of 
Miriam College and a Trustee of 
Development Center for Finance 
and Laura Vicuña Foundation. 
She was a Director of Banco de 
Oro Universal Bank from 2001 
to August 2005. She was also 
Executive Vice President of the 
former Far East Bank & Trust Co.; 
Director and President of FEB 
Leasing & Finance Corp.; Executive 
Director and Trustee of FEB 
Foundation, Inc.; and Executive 
Vice President of FEB Investments, 
Inc. until 2000. She was a Director 
of Equitable PCI Bank, Inc. from 
September 2005 until its merger 
with BDO in May 2007. Ms. Tan 
holds the degree of Bachelor of 
Arts major in Communication 
Arts from Maryknoll College, and 
Masters in Business Administration 
from Ateneo Graduate School 
of Business.
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PEDRO EMILIO O. ROXAS
Independent Director

59 years old, Filipino. Mr. Roxas 
is the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and Related Party 
Transactions (RPT) Committee, 
and also serves as member of the 
Corporate Governance Committee 
of the Board of Directors of 
BDO Private Bank, Inc. He is also 
the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Roxas Holdings, Inc., 
Roxaco Land Corp., Club Punta 
Fuego, Hawaiian-Phil. Co., and 
is also a Director of Brightnote 
Assets Corp. He is an Independent 
Director of Philippine Long 
Distance Telephone Company 
(PLDT) and MERALCO and acts as 
the Chairman, President, and CEO 
of Roxas and Co., Inc. He holds 
a bachelor ’s degree in Business 
Administration from University of 
Notre Dame.

ELIZABETH T. SY
Director

63 years old, Filipino. Ms. Sy 
serves as a member of the 
Executive Committee and Trust 
Committee of the Board of 
Directors of BDO Private Bank, 
Inc. She is also the Chairperson 
and President of SM Hotels and 
Convention Corporation, where 
she steers SM’s continuous 
growth in the tourism, leisure and 
hospitality industry. She likewise 
serves as Adviser to the Board 
of SM Investments Corporation 
and SM Prime Holdings, Inc., and 
as Co-Chairperson of Pico De 
Loro Beach and Country Club. 
She graduated with a degree in 
Business Administration from 
Maryknoll College.

Our Leadership
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VIOLETA O. LUYM
Director

69 years old, Filipino. Ms. LuYm serves 
as a member of the Audit, Corporate 
Governance, and Related Party 
Transactions (RPT) Committees of 
the Board of Directors of BDO Private 
Bank, Inc. She is the Chairperson 
of the Board of Directors of BDO 
Securities Corporation, and serves 
as Director and Treasurer of BDO 
Capital & Investment Corporation. 
She also sits as a Director of Tangiers 
Resources Corporation, Venture Vision 
Realty Development Corporation and 
Philippine Equity Corporation, and is 
a Director and Treasurer of various 
mutual fund companies under the 
Philequity group of funds. Ms. LuYm is 
the Corporate Secretary of Homeworld 
Shopping Corp. She functioned as a 
Director of Equitable Savings Bank 
Inc. from year 2007 to 2008, BDO 
Financial Services from year 1997 
to 2007, Banco De Oro-EPCI, Inc. 
from year 1998 to 2007 and Vantage 
Equities, Inc. in 2011. In the past, 
she has held senior officer positions 
in various financial institutions like 
Security Bank & Trust Co., Bancom 
Development Corp., International 
Corporate Bank, Bancom Finance 
Corp., BDO Commercial Bank, and 
BDO Universal Bank. She graduated 
from Assumption College and received 
her MBA from UCLA.

ALFONSO A. UY
Independent Director

76 years old, Filipino. Mr. Uy serves 
as a member of the Risk Management 
Committee and Trust Committee 
of the Board of Directors of BDO 
Private Bank, Inc. He is the Chairman 
of various corporations such as 
La Filipina Uygongco Corporation, 
Capiz Sugar Central, Inc., Philippine 
Foremost Milling Corp., Excel 
Farm Corp., Amigo Agro-Industrial 
Development Corp., and Mindanao 
Grain Processing Corp. He is also 
the Chairman of the Iloilo Economic 
Development Foundation. He is a 
Director of Steag State Power Inc., an 
Independent Director of Aboitiz Power 
Corporation, and the Vice Chairman 
of Panay Power Holding Corporation. 
Mr. Uy holds a Bachelor of Science 
degree in Chemical Engineering, 
Magna Cum Laude, from the Central 
Philippine University.
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HARLEY T. SY
Adviser

JOHNIP G. CUA
Independent Director

59 years old, Filipino. Mr. Cua 
is the Chairman of the Trust 
Committee and a member of the 
Risk Management Committee of the 
Board of Directors of BDO Private 
Bank, Inc. He was past President 
of Procter & Gamble Philippines, 
Inc., and Chairman of the Board 
of Trustees of Xavier School, Inc., 
and is currently the Chairman of 
the Board of the P&Gers Fund, 
Inc. and Taibrews Corporation. 
He is a member of the Board 
of Trustees of Xavier School 
Educational & Trust Fund and the 
Director of Interbake Marketing 
Corporation, Teambake Marketing 
Corporation, Bakerson Corporation, 
and Lartisan Corporation, and a 
member of the Board of Advisors 
of LT Group Inc. In addition, he 
serves as Independent Director of 
MacroAsia Corporation, MacroAsia 
Catering Services, Inc., MacroAsia 
Airport Services Corporation, 
STI Education Systems Holdings, 
PhilPlans First Inc., Century 
Pacific Food, Inc., Eton Properties 
Philippines, Inc., Philippine 
Airlines, Inc. and PAL Holdings, 
Inc. Mr. Cua holds a Bachelor 
of Science degree in Chemical 
Engineering from the University of 
the Philippines, Diliman.

Our Leadership
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RAISSA HECHANOVA-POSADAS
Adviser

NICASIO I. ALCANTARA
Independent Director

73 years old, Filipino. Mr. Alcantara 
serves as the Chairman of the Corporate 
Governance Committee of the Board of 
Directors of BDO Private Bank, Inc. and is 
a member of the Bank’s Audit Committee 
and Related Party Transactions Committee. 
He is the Chairman of the Board of 
Conal Corporation and is currently a 
Director of Alsons Corporation, Alsons 
Development and Investment Corporation, 
Alsons Insurance Brokers Corporation, 
Conal Holdings Corporation, Aquasur 
Resources Corporation, Alsons Aquaculture 
Corporation, Alsons Land Corporation, 
Finfish Hatcheries, Inc., Indophil Resources 
NL, Site Group International Ltd., Sarangani 
Agricultural Co., Inc, Seafront Resources 
Corporation, Alsing Power Holdings, Inc., 
Southern Philippines Power Corporation, 
Alsons Power Holdings Corporation, 
Western Mindanao Power Corporation, 
San Ramon Power, Inc., Sarangani Energy 
Corporation and The Philodrill Corporation. 
Prior to this, Mr. Alcantara held the 
position of Chairman and President in 
various corporations, namely, Petron 
Corporation, Alsons Consolidated Resource 
Inc., Iligan Cement Corporation, Alsons 
Cement Corporation, Northern Mindanao 
Power Corporation, and Refractories 
Corporation of the Philippines. He was also 
the Chairman of Alsons Prime Investments 
Corporation until recently, and served as 
Director of Bank One Savings, Bancasia 
Capital Corporation and C. Alcantara & 
Sons, Inc. Mr. Alcantara holds a master ’s 
degree in Business Administration (MBA) 
from Sta. Clara University, California, and 
a Bachelor of Science degree in Business 
Administration from the Ateneo de 
Manila University.
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Our corporate governance 
structure is designed to 

support and operate within the 
organizational structure in our 
quest to achieve our corporate 

mission and be the best in 
what we do.

Corporate Governance

Our Structure
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BDO Private Bank, Inc. upholds 
the highest standards of 
corporate governance and 
adheres firmly to the principles of 
accountability, fairness, integrity, 
transparency, and performance in 
the conduct of its business.

Our corporate governance 
framework is designed to 
support and operate within the 
organizational structure in our 
quest to achieve our corporate 
mission and be the best in what 
we do, with the end in view of 
creating long-term value and 
enhancing the sustainability of 
the Bank for the benefit of its 
investors and other stakeholders.

The promotion and observance 
of these principles is led by a 
Board of Directors aided by 
seasoned advisers, a high ratio 
of independent directors, and 
an experienced management 
team under an effective 
governance structure.

THE GOVERNANCE 
STRUCTURE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors takes 
the lead in setting the tone of 
good governance in the Bank. 
The Board, through a well-
defined governance structure, 
is responsible for establishing 
and actively promoting sound 
governance principles and 
practices, reflecting a culture of 
strong and effective governance.

The Board supervises the affairs 
of the Bank in the best interest of 
all stakeholders. It is responsible 
for the long-term shareholder 
value of the institution. Consistent 

with its role, it reviews, approves, 
and oversees the implementation 
of the overall business strategy, 
financial plans, and annual 
budgets; key operational 
initiatives; major funding and 
investment proposals consistent 
with long-term strategic goals; 
compliance and accountability 
systems; risk strategy and 
financial performance reviews to 
ensure the continued success of 
the organization.

The Board is also tasked 
to supervise the prudent 
management of the Bank by 
overseeing the integrity of the 
accounting and financial reporting 
systems, risk management 
policies, processes and systems, 
and ensuring that the Bank’s 
risk appetite and activities are 
consistent with the risk strategy, 
operating environment, internal 
controls and within capital 
sufficiency and regulatory 
standards.

The Board is composed of nine 
(9) members, four (4) of whom 
are independent directors. The 
directors are professionals or 
entrepreneurs from various fields 
of expertise and experience such 
as banking, law, accounting, 
merchandise marketing, bank 
regulation, and development 
finance/international lending. 
This provides the Board with the 
background, qualifications, skills, 
and competencies necessary 
to discharge the Board’s 
responsibilities effectively.

Pursuant to the Bank’s By-
Laws, the directors are elected 
at the annual meeting of the 
stockholders. Elected members 
of the Board serve for a one-year 
term and until their successors 
are elected or qualified.
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The Board holds regular quarterly 
meetings and, in addition, conducts 
special meetings as needed. The 
Board held 6 regular meetings 
in 2015. The attendance of the 
directors is as follows:

DIRECTOR

Meetings 
Attended 

By Director

Percentage 
of 

Attendance

Teresita T. Sy 6 of 6 100%
Nestor V. Tan 6 of 6 100%
Josefina N. Tan 6 of 6 100%
Elizabeth T. Sy 6 of 6 100%
Pedro E.O. Roxas 6 of 6 100%
Johnip G. Cua 6 of 6 100%
Alfonso A. Uy 6 of 6 100%
Nicasio I. Alcantara 5 of 6 83.3%
Violeta O. LuYm 6 of 6 100%

BOARD COMMITTEES 

The Board is supported by 
seven (7) committees with 
their respective mandates and 
composition as follows: 

Executive Committee

Chairperson: Teresita T. Sy 
Members: Nestor V. Tan, Josefina 
N. Tan, and Elizabeth T. Sy

The Board has empowered the 
Executive Committee to act on 
its behalf to approve board items 
which may be referred to it by 
Management in between regular 
quarterly board meetings. These 
items include the approval of 
actions pertaining to Anti-Money 
Laundering, Compliance, Bank 
Signatories, approval of manuals, 
policies or procedures and other 
matters of an urgent nature.

Audit Committee

Chairperson: Pedro E.O. Roxas 
(Independent Director) 
Members: Nicasio I. Alcantara 
(Independent Director) and 
Violeta O. LuYm

The Board Audit Committee 
(BAC) is empowered to assist the 
Board of Directors in fulfilling 
its oversight function over the 
Bank’s financial reporting process; 
system of internal control, 
overall management of risks and 
governance processes; internal 
and external audit functions; and 
compliance with applicable rules 
and regulations.

Composed of three board 
members (two of whom are 
independent directors), the BAC 
conducted four regular meetings 
in 2015.

For the year 2015, on the 
financial reporting process, the 
BAC extensively reviewed and 
discussed with Management, 
Internal Audit and External Audit 
the annual audited financial 
statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2015 including the 
internal controls on the financial 
reporting process, ensuring 
compliance with accounting 
standards and tax regulations 
before endorsing the same to 
the Board of Directors. Quarterly 
unaudited financial statements 
and results of operations were 
likewise reviewed and discussed 
with Management prior to 
endorsement to the Board of 
Directors for approval.

On its oversight function over 
Internal Audit, the BAC approved 
the Internal Audit’s annual 
plan after a thorough review of 
its scope, audit methodology, 
risk assessment and rating 
processes, financial budget as 
well as manpower resources to 
ensure the smooth execution of 
the plan. It also reviewed and 
approved the revised Internal 
Audit Charter and manual, which 
incorporated provisions in BSP 
Circular 871 – Internal Control and 
Internal Audit. The Committee 
likewise reviewed and discussed 
the Internal Audit reports, with 
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emphasis on issues and findings 
relating to operational, financial 
and compliance controls including 
risk management systems with 
impact to financials, reputation 
and information security. The 
BAC invited key management 
officers to discuss high risk 
issues and their action plans to 
resolve or mitigate the same. 
Furthermore, the Committee 
kept track of updates on 
Information Technology’s action 
plans in further strengthening IT 
risk management.

As part of its oversight function 
over External Audit, the BAC 
discussed and reviewed with the 
External Auditor the content of 
its engagement letter as well 
as the audit plan, consisting 
of, among others, the scope 
of work, focus areas and audit 
approach, engagement team, 
fraud risk, deliverables and 
timetable as well as updates 
on new accounting standards 
and tax regulations prior to the 
commencement of audit work. 
It discussed comprehensively 
the external audit reports, with 
focus on internal controls, risk 
management, governance and 
matters with financial impact. 
The Committee reviewed the 
management letter as well as 
Management’s response to the 
External Auditor ’s findings. It 
also assessed the performance 
of Punongbayan & Araullo, the 
Bank’s External Auditor.

Included in its oversight over 
the Compliance function was the 
review and approval of the annual 
plans, enhanced manuals and 
independent testing frameworks 
of the Compliance and Anti-
Money Laundering (AML) Units. 
The BAC likewise reviewed 
the results and monitored the 
progress of the Independent 
Compliance and AML Testing 
and consistently monitored the 
timely submission of regulatory 
requirements and compliance with 
mandatory ratios. The Committee 

also discussed in detail the BSP 
Report of Examination (ROE) 
as of September 2014 and 
reviewed Management’s reply 
to the findings, observations, 
and recommendations, making 
sure that committed actions are 
implemented.

Reports on cases in operations 
as well as non-loan related cases 
with significant amounts which 
may impact financials, information 
systems and reputation were 
discussed and reviewed. 
Highlighted in these discussions 
were the risk assessment, legal 
handling and root cause analyses, 
aimed at determining the control 
weaknesses as well as providing 
solutions thereto.

The BAC members attended 
the AML Training on “Mitigating 
Risk on Current Trends in Money 
Laundering” conducted by the 
Anti-Money Laundering Council 
Secretariat on November 25, 2015. 
Members of the Committee were 
likewise regularly apprised on 
new regulations related to money 
laundering, tax compliance, 
accounting standards as well 
as the US Foreign Account Tax 
Compliance Act or FATCA.

The Audit Committee conducted 
its yearly self-assessment, which 
enabled the Committee to gauge 
its own performance in the year 
2015 in relation to its Terms 
of Reference. The BAC also 
evaluated the performance of the 
Internal Audit, the Compliance 
and Anti-Money Laundering Units 
and External Audit.

Through its tracking mechanism, 
the Committee constantly 
reviewed and monitored 
Management’s corrective action 
on internal control weaknesses, 
compliance issues and major 
risk areas cited by BSP, Internal 
Audit, External Audit, Compliance 
and AML Units and other 
regulatory bodies.
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The Committee reviewed and 
updated its Terms of Reference to 
incorporate stipulations from BSP 
Circular 871 – Internal Control and 
Internal Audit.

The Board Audit Committee 
reports its evaluation of the 
effectiveness of the internal 
controls, financial reporting 
process, risk management systems 
and governance processes of 
the Bank based on information 
obtained from the External 
Auditor, the reasonable assurance 
provided by the Internal Auditor 
and additional reports and 
information requested from 
Senior Management, and found 
that these are generally adequate 
across BDO Private Bank, Inc.

Corporate Governance Committee

Chairperson: Nicasio I. Alcantara 
(Independent Director) 
Members: Pedro E.O. Roxas 
(Independent Director) and 
Violeta O. LuYm

The Corporate Governance 
Committee is primarily tasked to 
assist the Board in formulating 
the policies and in overseeing the 
implementation of the corporate 
governance practices of the 
Bank. Annually, it conducts the 
performance of self-assessment 
and peer evaluation of the 
Board of Directors, as well as 
the evaluation of the Board 
committees and executive 
management in order to assess 
the overall effectiveness of the 
Board and senior management.

The Committee performed its 
annual review of the Corporate 
Governance Manual and effected 
updates and revisions to ensure 
alignment with Parent Bank’s 
corporate governance policies 
and with the requirements of 
the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC).

Part of the governance initiatives 
is the continuing education of 
directors. In November 2015, the 
members of the board attended 

a seminar in relation to the 
mitigation of risk in current trends 
in money laundering.

Trust Committee

Chairperson: Johnip G. Cua 
(Independent Director) 
Members: Alfonso A. Uy 
(Independent Director), 
Elizabeth T. Sy, Josefina N. Tan 
(President), and Rafael G. Ayuste, Jr. 
(Trust Officer)

The Trust Committee reviews 
and approves transactions of 
trust and/or fiduciary accounts 
trusteed or managed by the 
Bank’s Wealth Advisory and Trust 
Group including investments, new 
products and services offering, 
establishment and renewal of 
lines and limits with financial 
institutions, investment outlets 
and counterparties. It evaluates 
trust and other fiduciary 
accounts at least once a year and 
reviews the overall performance 
and accountabilities under its 
management, industry position, 
compliance and risk management.

The Trust Committee met 6 times 
in 2015.

Risk Management Committee

Chairperson: Nestor V. Tan 
Members: Josefina N. Tan, 
Johnip G. Cua (Independent 
Director), and Alfonso A. Uy 
(Independent Director)

The Risk Management Committee 
is tasked with fostering a culture 
of risk management throughout 
the Bank, the development of 
the Bank’s risk policies, defining 
the appropriate strategies for 
identifying, quantifying, managing 
and controlling risk exposures 
including preventing and/or 
minimizing the impact of losses 
when they occur. It supports 
the Board in performing its risk 
oversight functions and reviews 
the overall risk management 
philosophy, risk strategy and risk 
tolerance levels, oversees the 
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implementation and review of 
the risk management plan on an 
integrated enterprise-wide basis, 
system of limits of management of 
discretionary authority delegated 
by the Board and takes immediate 
corrective actions when 
breached. It is also responsible 
for reassessing the continued 
relevance, comprehensiveness 
and effectiveness of the risk 
management plan, and revises it 
when needed. The Committee also 
reviews risk reports that control 
and monitor risk exposures 
and limits.

In 2015, the Committee conducted 
regular discussions on the Bank’s 
risk exposures and mitigation of 
these risks, approved the renewal 
of risk management policies 
and limits and reviewed the 
performance of the existing risk 
management models.

The Committee met 11 times 
in 2015.

Credit Committee

Chairperson: Teresita T. Sy 
Members: Nestor V. Tan and 
Josefina N. Tan

The Credit Committee is 
responsible for the approval 
processes of the Bank’s loans 
and investments as well as other 
credit-related issues. It approves 
credit and investment proposals, 

except those involving DOSRI 
or related party accounts, and 
subject to such limitations that 
may be imposed by the Board 
of Directors. The Committee 
approves, reviews and revises 
credit related polices, procedures, 
and other credit risk standards.

The Committee had 62 meetings 
during the year.

Related Party Transactions 
Committee

Chairperson: Pedro E.O. Roxas 
(Independent Director) 
Members: Violeta O. LuYm and 
Nicasio I. Alcantara (Independent 
Director)

The Bank seeks to ensure that 
every Related Party Transaction 
is conducted in a manner that 
will protect it from conflict 
of interest which may arise in 
transactions with Related Parties; 
and that proper review, approval, 
ratification and disclosure of 
transactions between the Bank 
and any of its Related Party/ies 
are carried out as required by 
pertinent BSP regulations.

Pursuant to this mandate, the 
Related Party Transactions 
Committee (RPTC) assists the 
Board in its oversight of the 
conduct of all Related Party 
Transactions (RPTs) to protect 
the interests of the Bank and its 
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stakeholders. It ensures proper 
disclosure of all approved RPTs in 
accordance with applicable legal 
and regulatory requirements and 
stockholder ratification of the 
Bank’s significant transactions 
with related parties.

GOVERNANCE MECHANISMS

The Bank espouses the principle 
and regulatory mandate of 
independent checks and balances 
in the institution.

To promote good governance 
across the institution, the 
following policies and practices 
have been put in place:

INDEPENDENCE OF DIRECTORS

This is achieved through a board 
structure which has two times the 
minimum number of independent 
directors required by BSP and 
SEC regulations. Out of nine (9) 
directors, four(4) are independent 
directors. Independent directors 
are autonomous of management 
and are capable of exercising 
unfettered and independent 
judgment, free from any business 
or other relationship that 

could materially interfere with 
the exercise of their ability to 
act in the best interest of the 
Bank and its stakeholders. In 
determining the independence 
of directors, each independent 
director is required to submit an 
annual disclosure of all relevant 
information related to his 
business interests and affiliations.

SEGREGATION OF ROLES 

The roles of the Board Chair and 
the Bank President are separate 
and distinct from each other to 
achieve a balance of authority, 
clear accountability, and capacity 
for independent decision making 
by the Board. The Chair ’s primary 
responsibility is leading the Board 
and ensuring its effectiveness 
while the President is responsible 
for running the Bank’s business.

INDEPENDENT CHECKS AND 
BALANCES

Cognizant of the value and 
importance of their assessment in 
ensuring the safety and soundness 
of the bank’s operations, and 
in taking appropriate action 
on their findings to mitigate 
risks and strengthen the control 
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environment on an ongoing basis, 
the Bank has institutionalized the 
following “independent watchers”:

• Internal Audit
As approved by the Bangko 
Sentral Ng Pilipinas, the 
Internal Audit function 
is outsourced from the 
Internal Audit Division of 
BDO Unibank to access, 
and take advantage of, the 
considerable expertise, 
experience and resources of 
the parent bank’s Internal 
Audit Group. The internal 
Audit Team is under the 
direct supervision of the 
Audit Committee.

The Internal Audit Team 
assigned to the Bank is 
exclusively designated for 
the Bank and maintains 
permanent offices at 
the Bank premises. The 
dedicated team is staffed 
by individuals with relevant 
qualifications and have 
direct access and reports 
regularly to the Audit 
Committee.

• External Audit
Punongbayan and Araullo 
was reappointed External 
Auditors of the Bank at the 
last Annual Stockholders 
Meeting on April 13, 2015. 
It is tasked to perform 
audit risk assessment, 
conduct an independent 
audit of the Bank’s financial 
statements, render an 
opinion on, and report the 
results of, the audit to the 
Audit Committee and to 
the Board of Directors. The 
Audit Committee makes the 
recommendations to the 
Board for the appointment, 
reappointment and removal 
of the external auditors 
including the audit fees and 
terms of engagement.

• Risk Management
The Risk Management 
Unit (RMU) is the unit of 
the Bank responsible for 

developing guidelines and 
policies for effective risk 
management. It is also 
responsible for identifying 
the key risk exposures, 
assessing and measuring 
the extent of risk exposures 
of the Bank in the conduct 
of its business. It performs 
independent monitoring 
and objective assessment 
of decisions to accept 
particular risks whether 
these are consistent 
with board-approved 
policies on risk tolerance 
and the effectiveness of 
the corresponding risk 
mitigation measures. On 
a regular basis, it reports 
to the Risk Management 
Committee, a board 
committee, the results of 
the RMU’s assessment and 
monitoring. RMU is staffed 
by competent personnel 
with sufficient experience, 
qualifications, knowledge 
of the banking business 
as well as risk disciplines. 
It is headed by a Chief 
Risk Officer (CRO) who is 
independent from executive 
functions, business line 
responsibilities, operations 
and revenue-generating 
functions. The CRO 
reports directly to the Risk 
Management Committee and 
could only be appointed and 
replaced with prior approval 
from the Board.

The Bank’s RMU is part of an 
integrated risk management 
framework covering the 
BDO Universal Bank Group 
to address the material 
risks it faces in its banking 
activities.

• Compliance and Anti-Money 
Laundering
The Compliance Unit is 
responsible for overseeing, 
coordinating, monitoring 
and ensuring compliance 
with existing laws, rules 
and regulations through 
the implementation of the 
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Bank’s compliance system 
and program in accordance 
with the requirements of the 
BSP and other regulatory 
agencies, including but not 
limited to the identification 
and control of compliance 
risks, prudential reporting 
obligations as well as 
compliance training.

The compliance system 
focuses on the enforcement 
of the Anti-Money Laundering 
Act and its implementing 
rules and regulations, 
Corporate Governance Manual, 
Code of Conduct and Personal 
Trading Policy and other 
regulatory requirements. It 
engages regulators on their 
annual examinations, reports 
to senior management and the 
Board significant compliance 
issues and regulatory findings. 
The unit is headed by a Chief 
Compliance Officer (CCO) 
who was appointed by the 
Board and approved by BSP. 
The CCO reports directly to 
the Audit Committee.

The Anti-Money Laundering 
Unit (AMLU) together with 
the Money Laundering 
Prevention Committee (MLPC) 
report directly to the Audit 
Committee. They focus on 
the enforcement of the Anti-
Money Laundering Act and 
its implementing rules and 
regulations, the monitoring 
of transactions and conduct 
of AML training. The Bank is 
also part of a BDO Group-
wide program of providing 
e-Learning training courses. 
The Bank’s AMLU also 
conducts an annual live face-
to-face training on AML and 
other legal and regulatory 
updates to all Bank units, 
including the Client Lounges.

• Code of Conduct and 
Business Ethics
The Bank institutionalizes 
the highest ethical 
standards through the strict 
implementation of the Code 

of Conduct that outlines 
the principles and policies 
governing the activities of 
the institution, its directors, 
officers and employees. The 
Code defines the rules of 
ethical conduct and standards 
of behavior that apply to 
all directors, officers and 
employees of the Bank.

• Restrictions in Dealing 
in Securities
A Personal Trading Policy 
was put in place to regulate 
buying and selling of shares 
by all officers and employees 
of the Bank to ensure that 
material, non-public, price-
sensitive information on 
shares being traded are not 
being used for personal 
gain. This is to eliminate 
the possibility, or even the 
appearance, of insider trading.

This policy requires all 
officers to disclose and report 
their trades in BDO shares 
within 3 days from date of 
transactions and also imposes 
trading black outs to ensure 
that officers and employees 
do not trade these securities 
using material inside 
information.

• Related Party Transactions
To maintain transparency of 
related party transactions 
between and among the Bank 
and its subsidiaries, affiliated 
companies, directors, 
officers, stockholders, related 
interests (DOSRI), the Bank 
complies fully with the legal 
and regulatory requirements 
pertaining to the proper 
approval and disclosure of 
such transactions.

Policies and procedures have 
been put in place to manage 
potential conflicts of interest 
arising from related party 
transactions such as credit 
accommodations, products or 
services extended by the Bank 
to directors or officers in their 
personal capacity or to their 
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company. The Executive 
Committee reviews and 
approves these transactions 
and endorses these to the 
full Board for independent 
review and confirmation. 
All directors except the 
interested parties can 
scrutinize the transactions 
to ensure that these are 
done on an arms-length 
basis and in accordance 
with regulations. Approved 
related party transactions 
are properly tagged for 
monitoring and reporting.

• Shareholders’ Interests
The Bank respects and 
protects the interests of 
its shareholders. The Bank 
is wholly-owned by BDO 
Universal Bank, Inc. which 
regularly issues proxy 
authority for its President 
to attend and vote at the 
stockholders’ meetings of 
BDO Private Bank, Inc.

The Annual Stockholders 
Meeting was held on April 
13, 2015, and was attended 
by the Board Chair, 
President, all directors and 
chairpersons of various 
board committees. The 
shareholders were allowed 
to cast their votes on each 
director and on each agenda 
item presented to them for 
approval.

• Whistleblower Policy
The Bank is committed to 
the highest standards of 
ethical values, integrity, 
honesty, accountability and 
transparency in the conduct 
of its business. 

Under BSP Circular 749, 
employees are to be 
given the opportunity 
to communicate, with 
protection from reprisal, 
legitimate concerns 
about illegal, unethical or 
questionable practices. 
directly to the Board or to 

an independent unit, The 
Bank has in place a “Policy 
on Disclosure of Sensitive/
Confidential Matters to 
Management” which guides 
officers and staff in the 
reporting of any incident, 
situation or circumstance 
involving fraud and/or 
violation of policies which 
may result in monetary loss 
and/or negative impact to 
the image of the Bank.

COMPLIANCE WITH SEC 
CODE OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

The Bank is in compliance with 
the principles and leading 
practices on good corporate 
governance as enunciated in 
the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC) Revised 
Code of Corporate Governance 
of 2009 as well as the relevant 
Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 
(BSP) Circulars on Corporate 
Governance. The Bank’s Corporate 
Governance Manual approved 
by the Board of Directors 
incorporates the established 
governance policies and practices 
in accordance with the Code. 
It is our guide to principled 
actions and responsible conduct 
in fulfilling our duties and 
responsibilities to stockholders 
and other stakeholders which 
include, among others, customers, 
employees, suppliers, service 
providers, creditors, government 
and community in which the 
Bank operates. The Manual, 
together with the Bank’s Articles 
of Incorporation, By-Laws 
and the charters of the Board 
Committees, constitute the 
governance framework of the 
Bank. The Bank also complied 
with the appropriate performance 
self-rating assessment and 
performance evaluation system 
to determine and measure 
compliance with the Manual.
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Awards and Recognition

Our Expertise

The efforts of the Bank have brought it far-reaching and 
consistent recognition, making the Bank reap numerous 
awards over the years. The Bank was recently awarded the 
following: 

• “2015 Best Private Bank in the Philippines for High 
Net Worth Individuals and Asset Management” 
by Euromoney

• “Best Private Wealth Management House” by Alpha 
SouthEast Asia for the eighth (8th) consecutive year

• “Best Private Bank in the Philippines” for the past 
eight (8) consecutive years by FinanceAsia

• “Best Private Bank in the Philippines” for six (6) 
consecutive years by The Asset

• “2015 Country Award for Best Private Bank” by 
Global Finance

• “2015 Country Award for Best Private Bank - 
Domestic” by Asian Private Banker (Awards for 
Distinction 2015)
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2015

BEST PRIVATE BANK 
IN THE PHILIPPINES 
FOR HIGH NET-WORTH 
INDIVIDUALS

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES FOR 
ASSET MANAGEMENT
Euromoney

BEST PRIVATE WEALTH 
MANAGEMENT BANK - 
PHILIPPINES
Alpha Southeast Asia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
FinanceAsia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
The Asset

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
Global Finance

BEST PRIVATE BANK - 
PHILIPPINES DOMESTIC
Asian Private Banker

2014

BEST PRIVATE BANK 
SERVICES OVERALL 

BEST IN RELATIONSHIP 
MANAGEMENT
Euromoney

BEST PRIVATE WEALTH 
MANAGEMENT BANK - 
PHILIPPINES
Alpha Southeast Asia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
FinanceAsia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
The Asset

2013

BEST PRIVATE BANK 
SERVICES OVERALL

BEST IN RELATIONSHIP 
MANAGEMENT, BEST IN 
PRIVACY AND SECURITY, 
BEST IN RANGE OF 
INVESTMENT PRODUCTS, 
BEST PRIVATE BANK 
FOR SUPER AFFLUENT / 
HNW-I / HNW-II
Euromoney

BEST PRIVATE WEALTH 
MANAGEMENT BANK - 
PHILIPPINES
Alpha Southeast Asia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
FinanceAsia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
The Asset

2012

BEST LOCAL PRIVATE 
BANK SERVICES OVERALL - 
PHILIPPINES

BEST IN RELATIONSHIP 
MANAGEMENT, BEST IN 
PRIVACY AND SECURITY
Euromoney

BEST PRIVATE WEALTH 
MANAGEMENT BANK - 
PHILIPPINES
Alpha Southeast Asia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES 
FinanceAsia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
The Asset

2011

BEST LOCAL PRIVATE 
BANK SERVICES OVERALL - 
PHILIPPINES
Euromoney

BEST PRIVATE WEALTH 
MANAGEMENT BANK - 
PHILIPPINES
Alpha Southeast Asia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
FinanceAsia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
The Asset

2010

BEST LOCAL PRIVATE 
BANK SERVICES OVERALL - 
PHILIPPINES
Euromoney

BEST PRIVATE WEALTH 
MANAGEMENT BANK - 
PHILIPPINES
Alpha Southeast Asia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
FinanceAsia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
The Asset

2009

BEST LOCAL PRIVATE 
BANK SERVICES OVERALL - 
PHILIPPINES
Euromoney

BEST PRIVATE WEALTH 
MANAGEMENT BANK - 
PHILIPPINES
Alpha Southeast Asia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
FinanceAsia

BEST WEALTH 
MANAGEMENT HOUSE IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
The Asset

2008

BEST PRIVATE WEALTH 
MANAGEMENT BANK - 
PHILIPPINES
Alpha Southeast Asia

BEST PRIVATE BANK IN 
THE PHILIPPINES
FinanceAsia
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The management of BDO Private Bank, Inc. (the Bank), is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements for the years 
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards (PFRS), including the following additional supplemental 
information filed separately from the basic financial statements:

 a.  Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend 
Declaration; and,

 b.  Schedule of PFRS Adopted by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and the Financial Reporting Standards Council as of 
December 31, 2015.

Management’s responsibility on the financial statements includes 
designing and implementing internal controls relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements, and 
the additional supplementary information, and submits the same to the 
stockholders.

Punongbayan & Araullo, the independent auditors appointed by the 
stockholders, has examined the financial statements of the Company in 
accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and in its report to 
the Board of Directors and stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the 
fairness of presentation upon completion of such examination.

SUBSCRIBED and SWORN to me before this 7th day of March 2016 affiant
exhibiting to me their Competent Evidence of Identity (CEI), as follows:

WITNESS BY HAND AND SEAL on the day first above-mentioned in Makati City.
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President
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Vice President 
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Department

Name
Teresita T. Sy

Josefina N. Tan
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Responsibility for  
Financial Statements

36



Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors 
BDO Private Bank, Inc. 
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of 
BDO Unibank, Inc.) 
2nd Floor, BDO Equitable Tower  
8751 Paseo de Roxas, Makati City

We have audited the 
accompanying financial 
statements of BDO Private 
Bank, Inc., which comprise the 
statements of financial position 
as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
and the statements of income, 
statements of comprehensive 
income, statements of changes 
in equity and statements of cash 
flows for the years then ended, 
and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation 
of these financial statements 
in accordance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards, 
and for such internal control 
as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Philippine 
Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial 
statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing 
procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements 
in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes 

Financial Statements

37



evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial 
statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial 
position of BDO Private Bank, Inc. 
as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance 
with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards.

EMPHASIS OF A MATTER

As discussed in Note 23 to the 
financial statements, the Bank 
presented the supplementary 
information required by the 
Bureau of Internal Revenue for 
the year ended December 31, 
2015 in a supplementary schedule 
filed separately from the basic 
financial statements. Such 
supplementary information is the 
responsibility of management. 
The supplementary information 
is presented for purposes of 

additional analysis and is not 
a required part of the basic 
financial statements prepared 
in accordance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards; it 
is neither a required disclosure 
under the Philippine Securities 
and Exchange Commission rules 
and regulations covering the 
form and content of financial 
statements under Securities 
Regulation Code Rule 68.

PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO

 
By: Romualdo V. Murcia III 
Partner

CPA Reg. No. 0095626 
TIN 906-174-059 
PTR No. 5321731, January 4, 2016, 
Makati City 
SEC Group A Accreditation 
   Partner - No. 0628-AR-2 (until Sept. 5, 2016)
   Firm - No. 0002-FR-4 (until Apr. 30, 2018)
BIR AN 08-002511-22-2013  
(until Nov. 7, 2016) 
Firm’s BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg.  
No. 0002 (until Dec. 31, 2018)

February 15, 2016
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Financial Statements

Statements of  
Financial Position

BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Notes 2015 2014

RESOURCES

DUE FROM BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS 6 P 9,440,381,444  P 10,118,740,396  

DUE FROM OTHER BANKS 6 2,999,033,912  1,618,113,699  

TRADING AND INVESTMENT SECURITIES

At fair value through profit or loss 7 5,846,884,650  2,920,538,029  

Available-for-sale securities - net 8 14,680,773,762  17,825,740,626  

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES - Net 10 16,735,875,059  5,888,475,402  

BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND EQUIPMENT - Net 11 44,968,549  62,517,995  

OTHER RESOURCES - Net 12 1,870,482,386  454,679,403  

TOTAL RESOURCES P 51,618,399,762 P 38,888,805,550

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

DEPOSIT LIABILITIES 13

Demand P 34,751,871,570  P 25,639,706,395 

Time 7,563,268,579  5,357,584,263 

Total Deposit Liabilities 42,315,140,149 30,997,290,658

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 15 2,990,572,444 1,775,824,273

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES 16 738,293,855 270,019,844

Total Liabilities 46,044,006,448 33,043,134,775

EQUITY 17 5,574,393,314 5,845,670,775

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY P 51,618,399,762 P 38,888,805,550

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Statements of Income

BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Notes 2015 2014

INTEREST INCOME ON

Available-for-sale securities 8 P 555,134,616 P 462,930,180

Loans and receivables 10 501,791,905 420,891,576

Due from other banks 6 125,173,174 186,756,613

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 32,679,860 18,391,035

1,214,779,555 1,088,969,404

INTEREST EXPENSE ON

Deposit liabilities 13 288,423,038 240,416,412

Bills payable 14 625,140 1,488,640

Others 21 247,786 438,462

289,295,964 242,343,514

NET INTEREST INCOME 925,483,591 846,625,890

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES - Net 10, 12 25,274,838 529,631

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 900,208,753 846,096,259

OTHER INCOME

Service charges, fees and commissions 18 593,831,533 455,673,438

Trading and securities gain - net 7,8 383,159,611 320,329,221

Foreign exchange gain - net 114,518,253 49,555,776

Others 4,391,285 13,311,128

1,095,900,682 838,869,563

OTHER EXPENSES

Employee benefits 21 371,072,644 352,654,305

Taxes and licenses 208,897,936 187,772,350

Representation and entertainment 87,243,667 75,370,651

Supervision 82,718,134 66,666,851

Insurance 64,067,568 60,474,680

Third party information 19 62,167,757 48,641,689

Depreciation and amortization 11, 12 48,112,730 45,966,785

Occupancy 27 42,744,582 42,883,420

Transportation and travel 41,674,775 36,039,806

Management and professional fees 8,224,409 57,789,397

Others 20 88,909,701 101,073,508

1,105,833,903 1,075,333,442

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 890,275,532 609,632,380

TAX EXPENSE 23 222,211,562 168,984,620

NET PROFIT P 668,063,970 P 440,647,760

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Financial Statements

Statements of 
Comprehensive Income

BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Notes 2015 2014

NET PROFIT P 668,063,970 P 440,647,760

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Items that are or will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale (AFS) securities 8 (300,339,570) 164,955,897

Transfer of realized losses (gains) on disposed AFS securities  
to statements of income 8, 17 211,284,584 (848,371)

(89,054,986) 164,107,526

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Actuarial gains (losses) on remeasurement of post-employment  
defined benefit obligation, net of tax 21 (286,445) 2,078,174

Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax (89,341,431) 166,185,700

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P 578,722,539 P 606,833,460

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Financial Statements

Statements of Cash Flows

BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Notes 2015 2014
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax P 890,275,532 P 609,632,380
Adjustments for:

Interest income (1,214,779,555) (1,301,842,340)
Interest received 1,297,635,906 1,150,269,570
Interest paid (319,523,074) (246,517,021)
Interest expense 289,295,964 242,343,514
Depreciation and amortization 11, 12 48,112,730 45,966,785
Fair value losses 64,450,018 25,268,192
Impairment losses 8, 10, 12 25,274,838 529,631

Operating profit before changes in resources and liabilities 1,080,742,359 525,650,711
Increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (3,029,294,168) (5,323,550)
Decrease (increase) in AFS securities 3,002,964,270 (7,584,340,922)
Decrease (increase) in loans and receivables 195,843,180 (3,423,178,788)
Increase in other resources (1,444,809,330) (316,453,614)
Increase in deposit liabilities 11,348,324,387 445,434,922
Increase (decrease) in derivative financial liabilities 1,214,748,171 (50,860,832)
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and other liabilities (45,896,122) 53,387,534

Cash generated from (used in) operations 12,322,622,747 (10,355,684,538)
Cash paid for income taxes (193,594,052) (147,695,958)
Net Cash From (Used in) Operating Activities 12,129,028,695 (10,503,380,496)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY
Acquisitions of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment 11 (16,538,545) (41,319,039)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid 17 (350,000,000) (1,000,000,000)
Payments for bills payable - (1,043,413,401)

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (350,000,000) (2,043,413,401)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 11,762,490,150 (12,588,112,936)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 6 10,118,740,396 23,047,245,015
Due from Other Banks 6 1,618,113,699 1,277,722,016

11,736,854,095 24,324,967,031

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR
Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 6 9,440,381,444 10,118,740,396
Due from Other Banks 6 2,999,033,912 1,618,113,699
Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreement 10 11,059,928,889 -

P 23,499,344,245 P 11,736,854,095

Supplemental Information on Noncash Financing Activities
During 2014, the Bank declared dividends amounting to P350 million which were approved by the BSP in 2015 and paid 
during 2015.  In 2015, the Bank declared dividends amounting to P500 million which remains payable as of December 31, 2015 
and is presented under Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities in the statements of financial position (see Note 16).

Other Information
Securities purchased under reverse repurchased agreement are included as part of cash and cash equivalents for cash flow 
purposes but are presented as part of Loans and Other Receivables in the statements of financial position (see Note 2.3).

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC. 
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Notes to Financial Statements
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1. CORPORATE MATTERS

1.1 Organization and Operations

On December 22, 1995, the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) authorized 
BDO Private Bank, Inc. (the Bank) to operate as a commercial bank. The 
Bank was incorporated in the Philippines to engage in banking activities, 
as well as to engage in and carry on the business of a trust company and 
to operate a foreign currency deposit unit.

The Bank is a wholly owned subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc. (BDO Unibank), 
a publicly listed bank incorporated and domiciled in the Philippines. BDO 
Unibank is authorized to operate as an expanded commercial bank and to 
engage in trust and foreign currency deposit operations.

As a banking institution, the Bank’s operations are regulated and 
supervised by the BSP. In this regard, the Bank is required to comply 
with the rules and regulations of the BSP such as those relating to 
maintenance of reserve requirements on deposit liabilities and deposit 
substitutes and those relating to the adoption and use of safe and sound 
banking practices, among others, as promulgated by the BSP. The Bank is 
subject to the provisions of the General Banking Law of 2000 (Republic 
Act No. 8791).

The Bank’s registered office, which is also its principal place of business, 
is located at the 2nd Floor, BDO Equitable Tower, 8751 Paseo de Roxas, 
Makati City. The registered office of BDO Unibank is at BDO Corporate 
Center, 7899 Makati Avenue, Makati City.

Notes to Financial Statements
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1.2 Approval of Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Bank as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2015 (including the comparative financial statements as of 
and for the year ended December 31, 2014) were authorized for issue by 
the Bank’s Board of Directors (BOD) on February 15, 2016.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation 
of these financial statements are summarized in the succeeding pages. 
The policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, 
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements

(a) Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 

The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance 
with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). PFRS are 
adopted by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) from the 
pronouncements issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, 
and approved by the Philippine Board of Accountancy (BOA).

The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement 
bases specified by PFRS for each type of asset, liability, income and 
expense. The measurement bases are more fully described in the 
accounting policies that follow.

(b) Presentation of Financial Statements

The financial statements are presented in accordance with Philippine 
Accounting Standard (PAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements . The 
Bank presents statements of comprehensive income separate from the 
statements of income.

The Bank presents a third statement of financial position as of the 
beginning of the preceding period when it applies an accounting policy 
retrospectively, or makes a retrospective restatement or reclassification 
of items that has a material effect on the information in the statement of 
financial position at the beginning of the preceding period. The related 
notes to the third statement of financial position are not required to 
be disclosed. 

In 2015, the Bank reclassified the 2014 Interest income on Derivative 
Securities amounting to P212,872,937 previously presented as part 
of Interest Income on Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit 
or Loss to Trading and securities gain – net under Other Income in 
the 2014 statement of income to conform with the 2015 presentation. 
Such reclassification, however, did not affect the 2014 net profit in the 
statement of income and the 2014 statement of financial position.
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(c) Functional and Presentation Currency

These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the Bank’s 
functional and presentation currency, and all values represent absolute 
amounts except when otherwise indicated (see Note 2.15).

Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are measured using 
its functional currency. Functional currency is the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Bank operates.

2.2 Adoption of New and Amended PFRS

(a) Effective in 2015 that are Relevant to the Bank

In 2015, the Bank adopted for the first time the following amendment and 
annual improvements to PFRS which are mandatorily effective for annual 
periods on or after July 1, 2014 for the Bank’s annual reporting period 
beginning January 1, 2015:

PAS 19 (Amendment) : Employee Benefits – Defined Benefit 
Plans – Employee Contributions

Annual Improvements : Annual Improvements to PFRS 
(2010-2012 Cycle) and PFRS (2011-2013 Cycle)

Discussed below are the relevant information about these amendments 
and improvements.

(i) PAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits – Defined Benefit Plans – 
Employee Contributions

The amendment clarifies that if the amount of the contributions to 
defined benefit plans from employees or third parties is dependent on 
the number of years of service, an entity shall attribute the contributions 
to periods of service using the same attribution method (i.e., either using 
the plan’s contribution formula or on a straight-line basis) for the gross 
benefit. The amendment did not have a significant impact on the Bank’s 
financial statements since Bank’s defined benefit plan does not require 
employees or third parties to contribute to the benefit plan.

(ii) Annual Improvements to PFRS

Annual improvements to PFRS (2010-2012 Cycle) and PFRS (2011-2013 
Cycle) made minor amendments to a number of PFRS. Among those 
improvements, the following amendments are relevant to the Bank but 
had no material impact on the Bank’s financial statements as these 
amendments merely clarify the existing requirements:

Annual Improvements to PFRS (2010-2012 Cycle) 

• PAS 16 (Amendment), Property, Plant and Equipment and PAS 38 
(Amendment), Intangible Assets . The amendments clarify that when 
an item of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets is 
revalued, the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is 
consistent with a revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset. 

Notes to Financial Statements
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• PAS 24 (Amendment), Related Party Disclosures . The amendment 
clarifies that an entity providing key management services to a 
reporting entity is deemed to be a related party of the latter. It also 
clarifies that the information required to be disclosed in the financial 
statements are the amounts incurred by the reporting entity for key 
management personnel services that are provided by a separate 
management entity and not the amounts of compensation paid or 
payable by the management entity to its employees or directors. 

Annual Improvements to PFRS (2011-2013 Cycle) 

• PFRS 13 (Amendment), Fair Value Measurement . The amendment 
clarifies that the scope of the exception for measuring the fair 
value of a group of financial assets and financial liabilities on a net 
basis (the portfolio exception) applies to all contracts within the 
scope of and accounted for in accordance with PAS 39, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement , or PFRS 9, Financial 
Instruments , regardless of whether they meet the definition of 
financial assets or financial liabilities as defined in PAS 32, Financial 
Instruments: Presentation .

• PAS 40 (Amendment), Investment Property. The amendment clarifies 
the interrelationship of PFRS 3, Business Combinations, and PAS 
40 in determining the classification of property as an investment 
property or owner-occupied property, and explicitly requires an 
entity to use judgment in determining whether the acquisition of an 
investment property is an acquisition of an asset or a group of asset 
in accordance with PAS 40 or a business combination in accordance 
with PFRS 3.

(b) Effective in 2015 that are not Relevant to the Bank

The following annual improvements to PFRS are mandatory for accounting 
periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014 but are not relevant to the 
Bank’s financial statements:

PFRS (2010-2012 Cycle)

PFRS 2 (Amendment) : Share-based Payment – Definition of 
Vesting Condition

PFRS 3 (Amendment) : Business Combinations – Accounting for 
Contingent Consideration in a Business Combination

PFRS 8 (Amendments) : Operating Segments – Aggregation 
of Operating Segments, and Reconciliation of the Total of the 
Reportable Segments’ Assets to the Entity’s Assets 

PFRS (2011-2013 Cycle)

PFRS 3 (Amendment) : Business Combinations – Scope Exceptions 
for Joint Ventures
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(c) Effective Subsequent to 2015 but not Adopted Early

There are new PFRS, amendments and annual improvements to existing 
standards effective for annual periods subsequent to 2015 which 
are adopted by the FRSC. Management will adopt these relevant 
pronouncements in accordance with their transitional provisions; and, 
unless otherwise stated, none of these are expected to have significant 
impact on the Bank’s financial statements.

(i) PAS 1 (Amendment), Presentation of Financial Statements – Disclosure 
Initiative (effective from January 1, 2016)

The amendment encourages entities to apply professional judgment 
in presenting and disclosing information in the financial statements. 
Accordingly, it clarifies that materiality applies to the whole financial 
statements and an entity shall not reduce the understandability of the 
financial statements by obscuring material information with immaterial 
information or by aggregating material items that have different natures 
or functions. Moreover, the amendment clarifies that an entity’s share of 
other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted 
for using equity method should be presented based on whether or not 
such other comprehensive income item will subsequently be reclassified 
to profit or loss. It further clarifies that in determining the order of 
presenting the notes and disclosures, an entity shall consider the 
understandability and comparability of the financial statements. 

(ii) PAS 16 (Amendment), Property, Plant and Equipment and PAS 38 
(Amendment), Intangible Assets – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortization (effective from January 1, 2016)

The amendment in PAS 16 clarifies that a depreciation method that is 
based on revenue that is generated by an activity that includes the use of 
an asset is not appropriate for property, plant and equipment. In addition, 
amendment to PAS 38 introduces a rebuttable presumption that an 
amortization method that is based on the revenue generated by an activity 
that includes the use of an intangible asset is not appropriate, which can 
only be overcome in limited circumstances where the intangible asset is 
expressed as a measure of revenue, or when it can be demonstrated that 
revenue and the consumption of the economic benefits of an intangible 
asset are highly correlated.

(iii) PAS 16 (Amendment), Property, Plant and Equipment and PAS 41 
(Amendment), Agriculture – Bearer Plants (effective from January 1, 2016)

The amendment defines a bearer plant as a living plant that is used in 
the production or supply of agricultural produce, is expected to bear 
produce for more than one period and has a remote likelihood of being 
sold as agricultural produce, except for incidental scrap sales. On this 
basis, bearer plant is now included within the scope of PAS 16 rather 
than PAS 41, allowing such assets to be accounted for as property, plant 
and equipment and to be measured after initial recognition at cost or 
revaluation basis in accordance with PAS 16. The amendment further 
clarifies that produce growing on bearer plants remains within the scope 
of PAS 41. 
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(iv) PFRS 9 (2014), Financial Instruments (effective from January 1, 2018)

This new standard on financial instruments will eventually replace PAS 
39 and PFRS 9 (2009, 2010 and 2013 versions). This standard contains, 
among others, the following:

• three principal classification categories for financial assets based 
on the business model on how an entity is managing its financial 
instruments;

• an expected loss model in determining impairment of all financial 
assets that are not measured at FVTPL, which generally depends 
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition of a financial asset; and,

• a new model on hedge accounting that provides significant 
improvements principally by aligning hedge accounting more closely 
with the risk management activities undertaken by entities when 
hedging their financial and non-financial risk exposures.

In accordance with the financial asset classification principle of PFRS 9 
(2014), a financial asset is classified and measured at amortized cost 
if the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 
financial assets in order to collect the contractual cash flows that 
represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal 
outstanding. Moreover, a financial asset is classified and subsequently 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if it meets 
the SPPI criterion and is held in a business model whose objective 
is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the 
financial assets. All other financial assets are measured at FVTPL.

In addition, PFRS 9 (2014) allows entities to make an irrevocable election 
to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity instrument 
that is not held for trading in other comprehensive income. 

The accounting for embedded derivatives in host contracts that are 
financial assets is simplified by removing the requirement to consider 
whether or not they are closely related, and, in most arrangements, does 
not require separation from the host contract. 

For liabilities, the standard retains most of the PAS 39 requirements, 
which include amortized cost accounting for most financial liabilities, 
with bifurcation of embedded derivatives. The amendment also requires 
changes in the fair value of an entity’s own debt instruments caused by 
changes in its own credit quality to be recognized in other comprehensive 
income rather than in profit or loss. 

The Bank is currently assessing the impact of PFRS 9 (2014) on the 
financial statements of the Bank since it may or may not significantly 
impact the financial statements and it is conducting a comprehensive 
study of the potential impact of this standard prior to its mandatory 
adoption date to assess the impact of all changes.
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(v) Annual improvements to PFRS (2012-2014 Cycle) effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016

Among those improvements, the following amendments are relevant to 
the Bank but management does not expect those to have material impact 
on the Bank’s financial statements:

• PFRS 7 (Amendment), Financial Instruments – Disclosures . The 
amendment provides additional guidance to help entities identify the 
circumstances under which a contract to “service” financial assets 
is considered to be a continuing involvement in those assets for the 
purposes of applying the disclosure requirements of PFRS 7. Such 
circumstances commonly arise when, for example, the servicing is 
dependent on the amount or timing of cash flows collected from the 
transferred asset or when a fixed fee is not paid in full due to non-
performance of that asset.

• PAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits . The amendment clarifies 
that the currency and term of the high quality corporate bonds 
which were used to determine the discount rate for post-employment 
benefit obligations shall be made consistent with the currency and 
estimated term of the post-employment benefit obligations.

2.3 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognized when the Bank becomes a party to the 
contractual terms of the financial instrument. For purposes of classifying 
financial assets, an instrument is considered as an equity instrument if 
it is non-derivative and meets the definition of equity for the issuer in 
accordance with the criteria of PAS 32. All other non-derivative financial 
instruments are treated as debt instruments.

(a) Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets

Financial assets other than those designated and effective as hedging 
instruments are classified into the following categories: FVTPL, loans 
and receivables, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments and available-for-
sale (AFS) financial assets. Financial assets are assigned to the different 
categories by management on initial recognition, depending on the 
purpose for which the investments were acquired.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on their 
settlement date. All financial assets that are not classified as at FVTPL are 
initially recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Financial assets carried at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value 
and transaction costs related to it are recognized in profit or loss. A 
more detailed description of the four categories of financial assets is as 
follows:

(i) Financial Assets at FVTPL

This category includes financial assets that are either classified as held 
for trading (HFT) or that meets certain conditions and are designated by 
the Bank to be carried at FVTPL upon initial recognition. All derivatives 
fall into this category, except for those designated and effective as 
hedging instruments. 
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Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, and changes therein 
are recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets (except derivatives and 
financial instruments originally designated as financial assets at FVTPL) 
may be reclassified out of FVTPL category if they are no longer held for 
the purpose of being sold or repurchased in the near term.

(ii) Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. These 
arise when the Bank provides money or services directly to a debtor with 
no intention of trading the receivables, which are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes 
in value.

The Bank’s financial assets categorized as loans and receivables are 
presented as Cash and Cash Equivalents and Loans and Receivables in the 
statement of financial position. Cash and cash equivalents include Due 
from BSP and Due from Other Banks. Loans and receivables includes loans 
to customers, Securities Purchased Under Reverse Repurchase Agreement 
(SPURRA), and all receivables from customers, trust department, and 
other banks. 

For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include 
amounts due from BSP and other banks, and Securities Purchased Under 
Reverse Repurchase Agreement (SPURRA) with original maturities of 
three months or less from placement date. 

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method, less impairment loss, if any. Any change in 
the value of loans and receivables is recognized in profit or loss. Increases 
in estimate of future cash receipts from such financial assets shall be 
recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate from the date 
of the change in estimate.

(iii) HTM Investments

This category includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and a fixed date of maturity that the Bank has the 
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments intended to 
be held for an undefined period are not included under this category. 

If the Bank was to sell other than an insignificant amount of HTM 
investments, the entire category would be tainted and reclassified 
as AFS securities. The tainting provision will not apply if the sales or 
reclassifications of HTM investments: (i) are so close to maturity or the 
financial asset’s call date that changes in the market rate of interest 
would not have a significant effect on its fair value; (ii) occur after 
the Bank has collected substantially all of the financial asset’s original 
principal through scheduled payments or prepayments; or, (iii) are 
attributable to an isolated event that is beyond the control of the Bank, 
is nonrecurring and could not have been reasonably anticipated by the 
Bank. Upon tainting, the Bank shall not classify any financial assets as 
HTM investments for the next two reporting periods after the year of 
tainting. Subsequent to initial recognition, HTM investments are measured 
at amortized costs using effective interest method, less impairment 
losses, if any. 
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(iv) AFS Securities

This category includes non-derivative financial assets that are either 
designated to this category or do not qualify for inclusion in any of 
the other categories of financial assets. The Bank’s AFS securities 
include government and corporate bonds and listed and unquoted 
equity securities.

All financial assets within this category are subsequently measured 
at fair value, except for equity instruments that do not have a quoted 
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably 
measured which are measured at cost, less impairment loss, if any. Gains 
and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income, net of any 
income tax effects, and are reported as part of the Revaluation Reserves 
account in equity, except for interest and dividend income, impairment 
losses and foreign exchange differences on monetary assets, which are 
recognized in profit or loss. 

(b) Impairment of Financial Assets

The Bank assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and 
impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that loss event has an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group 
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence 
that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable 
data that comes to the attention of the Bank about certain loss events, 
including, among others: (i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer 
or debtor; (ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in 
interest or principal payments; (iii) the probability that the borrower will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; (iv) the disappearance 
of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties; or, (v) observable data indicating that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a group of financial 
assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease 
cannot be identified yet with the individual financial assets in the group. 
The Bank recognizes impairment loss based on the category of financial 
assets are as follows:

(i) Carried at Amortized Cost – Loans and Receivables and 
HTM Investments

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists 
individually for financial assets that are individually significant and 
individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of 
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, the Bank includes the asset in a group of financial 
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses 
them for impairment. Financial assets that are individually assessed 
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be 
recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

Notes to Financial Statements

53



If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and 
receivables or HTM investments carried at amortized cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account and the amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss. If a 
loan and receivable or HTM investment has a variable interest rate, the 
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective 
interest rate determined under the contract. When practicable, the Bank 
may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using 
an observable market price. 

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of 
a collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from 
foreclosures less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or 
not the foreclosure is probable.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial 
assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics, 
i.e., on the basis of the Bank’s or BSP’s grading process that considers 
asset type, industry, collateral type, status and other relevant factors. 
Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows 
for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to 
pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets 
being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively 
evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual 
cash flows of the assets and historical loss experience for assets with 
credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss 
experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect 
the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which 
the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of 
conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently. 

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should 
reflect and be consistent with changes in related observable data from 
period to period. The methodologies and assumptions used for estimating 
future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Bank to reduce any 
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance 
for loan impairment. Such loans are written off after all the necessary 
procedures, including approval from the management and the BOD, 
have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognized 
as an income, which is reported as Others account under Other Income 
in the statement of income. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as an 
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The 
amount of the reversal is recognized in profit or loss.
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(ii) Carried at Cost – AFS Financial Assets

The Bank assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there 
is objective evidence that any of the unquoted equity securities and 
derivative assets linked to and required to be settled in such unquoted 
equity instruments, which are carried at cost, may be impaired. The 
amount of impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount 
of the equity security and the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return of a similar asset. 
Impairment losses on assets carried at cost cannot be reversed.

(iii) Carried at Fair Value – AFS Financial Assets

In the case of investments classified as AFS securities, a significant 
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is 
considered in determining whether the assets are impaired. If any such 
evidence exists for AFS securities, the cumulative loss – measured as 
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, 
less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in 
other comprehensive income as part of equity – is reclassified from other 
comprehensive income to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. 

Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss on equity instruments 
are not reversed through profit or loss. Reversal of impairment losses is 
recognized in other comprehensive income, except for financial assets 
that are debt securities which are recognized in profit or loss only if 
the reversal can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognized.

(c) Items of Income and Expense Related to Financial Assets

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial 
assets at FVTPL category are reported as part of Trading and Securities 
gain under Other Operating Income account in the statement of income 
in the period in which these arise. Gains and losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of AFS securities are recognized in other comprehensive 
income until the financial asset is derecognized or impaired, at which time 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive 
income shall be reclassified to profit or loss. However, interest calculated 
using the effective interest method is recognized in profit or loss. 

Non-compounding interest, dividend income and other cash flows 
resulting from holding impaired financial assets are recognized in profit 
or loss when received, regardless of how the related carrying amount of 
financial assets is measured.

(d) Derecognition of Financial Assets

The financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial instruments expire, or when the 
financial assets and all substantial risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to another party. If the Bank neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred asset, the Bank recognizes its retained interest 
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. 
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If the Bank retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of a transferred financial asset, the Bank continues to recognize the 
financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the 
proceeds received. 

2.4 Derivative Financial Instruments

The Bank is a party to various foreign currency forward contracts, 
cross currency and interest rate swaps. These contracts are entered 
into as a service to customers and as a means of reducing or managing 
the Bank’s foreign exchange and interest rate exposure as well as for 
trading purposes. 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured 
at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market 
prices in active markets and through valuation techniques, including 
discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as appropriate. 
All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as 
liabilities when fair value is negative.

The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition 
is the transaction price (i.e., the fair value of the consideration given 
or received) unless the fair value of that instrument is evidenced by 
comparison with other observable current market transactions in the 
same instrument (i.e., without modification or repackaging) or based on 
a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable 
markets. When such evidence exists, the Bank recognizes the profit on 
day one.

For more complex instruments, the Bank uses proprietary models, 
which usually are developed from recognized valuation models. Some 
or all of the inputs into these models may not be market observable, 
and are derived from market prices or rates or are estimated based 
on assumptions. 

When entering into a transaction, the financial instrument is recognized 
initially at the transaction price, which is the best indicator of fair 
value, although the value obtained from the valuation model may differ 
from the transaction price. This initial difference, usually an increase, 
in fair value indicated by valuation techniques is recognized in profit 
or loss depending upon the individual facts and circumstances of each 
transaction and not later than when the market data becomes observable.

The value produced by a model or other valuation technique is adjusted 
to allow for a number of factors as appropriate, because valuation 
techniques cannot appropriately reflect all factors market participants 
take into account when entering into a transaction. Valuation adjustments 
are recorded to allow for model risks, bid-ask spreads, liquidity risks, and 
other factors. 
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2.5 Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the resulting net 
amount, considered as a single financial asset or financial liability, is 
reported in the statement of financial position when the Bank currently 
has legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. The right of set-off must be available 
at the end of the reporting period, that is, it is not contingent on future 
event. It must also be enforceable in the normal course of business, in 
the event of default, and in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy; and 
must be legally enforceable for both entity and all counterparties to the 
financial instruments.

2.6 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities include deposit liabilities, bills payable, derivative 
financial liabilities and accrued expenses and other liabilities (except 
tax-related payables and post-employment defined benefit obligation).

Financial liabilities are recognized when the Bank becomes a party to 
the contractual terms of the instrument. All interest-related charges are 
recognized as interest expense in profit or loss.

Deposit liabilities and bills payable are recognized initially at fair value, 
which is the issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of 
direct issue costs. These are subsequently measured at amortized cost; 
any difference between the proceeds received, net of transaction costs 
and the redemption value is recognized in the profit or loss over the 
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and 
subsequently valued at fair value with changes in fair value charged to 
statement of income.

Accrued expenses and other liabilities are recognized initially at 
their fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost less 
settlement payments.

Dividend distributions to shareholders are recognized as financial 
liabilities when the dividends are declared by the Bank and subject to the 
requirements of BSP Circular 888.

Financial liabilities are derecognized from the statement of financial 
position only when the obligations are extinguished either through 
discharge, cancellation or expiration. The difference between carrying 
amount of financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid or 
payable is recognized in profit or loss.
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2.7 Other Resources

Other resources pertain to other assets controlled by the Bank as a result 
of past events. They are recognized in the financial statements when it is 
probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the entity and the 
asset has a cost or value that can be measured reliably.

2.8 Intangible Assets

Intangible assets pertain to computer software licenses. Acquired 
computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs 
incurred to acquire and install the specific software. These costs are 
amortized on straight-line basis over the expected useful life of one to 
three years. Costs associated with maintaining computer software are 
expensed as incurred.

When an intangible asset is disposed of, the gain or loss on disposal is 
determined as the difference between the proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

2.9 Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are carried at 
acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any 
impairment losses.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly attributable 
cost of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use. 
Expenditures for additions, improvements and renewals are capitalized; 
expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as 
incurred. When assets are sold, retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost 
and their related accumulated depreciation and impairment losses are 
removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in 
income for the period.

Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of three to five years for the Bank’s furniture, fixtures 
and equipment.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease or 
the estimated useful lives of the improvements of five years, whichever 
is shorter.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount (see Note 2.16).

The residual values and estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, 
fixtures and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the 
end of each reporting period.
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An item of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment is 
derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or 
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
item) is included in the statement of income in the year the item 
is derecognized.

2.10 Provisions and Contingencies

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to 
an outflow of economic resources and they can be estimated reliably even 
if the timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. A present 
obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment 
that has resulted from past events. 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle 
the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available 
at the end of the reporting period, including the risks and uncertainties 
associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of 
similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a 
whole. When time value of money is material, long-term provisions are 
discounted to their present values using a pretax rate that reflects market 
assessments and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in 
the provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense. 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted 
to reflect the current best estimate.

In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resource as a 
result of present obligations is considered improbable or remote, or 
the amount to be provided for cannot be measured reliably, no liability 
is recognized in the financial statements. Similarly, possible inflows of 
economic benefits to the Bank that do not yet meet the recognition 
criteria of an asset are considered contingent assets, hence, are 
not recognized in the financial statements. On the other hand, any 
reimbursement that the Bank can be virtually certain to collect from a 
third party with respect to the obligation is recognized as a separate 
asset not exceeding the amount of the related provision.

2.11 Equity

Preferred and common stocks represent the nominal value of shares that 
have been issued.

Surplus reserves pertain to appropriations for the trust reserves 
requirements computed based on existing BSP regulation.

Surplus free includes all current and prior period results as reported in 
the statement of income, reduced by the amounts of dividends declared.
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Revaluation reserves include unrealized gains (losses) on AFS securities 
which pertain to mark-to-market valuation of AFS securities and 
accumulated actuarial gains (losses) which relate to remeasurement of 
post-employment defined benefit plans.

2.12 Related Party Relationships and Transactions

Related party transactions consist of transfer of resources, services or 
obligations between the Bank and its related parties, regardless whether 
a price is charged.

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control 
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party 
in making financial and operating decisions. Related parties include: 
(a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one or more 
intermediaries, control or are controlled by, or under common control 
with the Bank; (b) associates; (c) individuals owning, directly or indirectly, 
an interest in the voting power of the Bank that gives them significant 
influence over the Bank and close members of the family of any such 
individual; and, (d) the Bank’s retirement plan. 

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is 
directed to the substance of the relationship and not merely on the 
legal form.

2.13 Revenue and Cost Recognition

Revenue comprises revenue from interests, service charges, fees and 
commissions, and trading and securities gains.

Revenue is recognized to the extent that the revenue can be reliably 
measured; it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the 
Bank; and the costs incurred or to be incurred can be measured reliably. 
In addition, the following specific recognition criteria must also be met 
before revenue and costs is recognized:

(a) Interest Income and Expense

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss for 
all instruments measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized 
cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the 
interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument 
or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest 
rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of 
the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not 
consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points 
paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part 
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums 
or discounts.

60



Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been 
written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is 
recognized using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash 
flows for the purpose of measuring impairment loss.

(b) Service Charges, Fees and Commissions

Service charges, fees and commissions are generally recognized on an 
accrual basis when the service has been provided. Other service fees are 
recognized based on the applicable service contracts, usually on a time-
appropriate basis. 

(c) Trading and Securities Gain

Trading and securities gain is recognized when the ownership of the 
security is transferred to the buyer and is computed as the difference 
between the selling price and the carrying amount of the security. 
Trading and securities gain also includes results from the mark-to-market 
valuation of FVTPL securities at the end of each reporting period.

Cost and expenses are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of 
goods or services or at the date they are incurred. All finance costs are 
reported in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

2.14 Leases – Bank as Lessee

Leases, which do not transfer to the Bank substantially all the risks and 
benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. 
Operating lease payments (net of any incentive received from the lessor) 
are recognized as expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are 
expensed as incurred.

The Bank determines whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease 
based on the substance of the arrangement. It makes an assessment of 
whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of 
a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use 
the asset.

2.15 Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

The accounting records of the Bank are maintained in Philippine pesos. 
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into the 
functional currency at exchange rates which approximate those prevailing 
on transaction dates.

Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognized in statement of income under Foreign exchange gain – net. 
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Changes in the fair value of monetary financial assets denominated 
in foreign currency classified as AFS securities are analyzed between 
translation differences resulting from changes in the amortized cost of 
the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. 
Translation differences related to changes in amortized cost are 
recognized in profit or loss, and other changes in the carrying amount are 
recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).

2.16 Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment and other resources 
are subject to impairment testing whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset or 
cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market 
conditions less costs to sell and value in use, based on an internal 
discounted cash flow evaluation. The data used for impairment testing 
procedures are directly linked to the Bank’s latest approved budget, 
adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of asset enhancements. 
Discount factors are determined individually for each cash-generating 
unit and reflect management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such 
as market and asset-specific risk factors.

All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment 
loss previously recognized may no longer exist. An impairment loss is 
reversed if the asset’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.

2.17 Employee Benefits

The Bank provides post-employment benefits to employees through a 
defined benefit plan and defined contribution plan, and other employee 
benefits which are recognized as follows:

(a) Post-employment Defined Benefit Plan

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment plan that defines an amount 
of post-employment benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, 
usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service 
and salary. The legal obligation for any benefits from this kind of post-
employment plan remains with the Bank, even if plan assets for funding 
the defined benefit plan have been acquired. Plan assets may include 
assets specifically designated to a long-term benefit fund, as well as 
qualifying insurance policies. The Bank’s defined benefit post-employment 
plan covers all regular full-time employees. The pension plan is tax-
qualified, noncontributory and administered by a trustee.
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The liability recognized in the statement of financial position for a 
defined benefit plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. 
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent 
actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value 
of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the 
estimated future cash outflows using a discount rate derived from the 
interest rates of interpolated yields of government bonds as published 
by Philippine Dealing and Exchange Corporation (PDEX), that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and 
that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related 
post-employment liability.

Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses arising from 
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions and the 
return on plan assets (excluding amount included in interest) are reflected 
immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge or credit 
recognized in other comprehensive income in the period in which they 
arise. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the 
beginning of the period, taking account of any changes in the net defined 
benefit liability or asset during the period as a result of contributions and 
benefit payments. Net interest is reported as part of Others under Interest 
Expense or Interest Income accounts in the statement of income.

Past-service costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss in the 
period of a plan amendment. 

(b) Post-employment Defined Benefit Contribution Plan

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Bank pays 
fixed contributions into an independent entity such as the Social Security 
System. The Bank has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further 
contributions after payment of the fixed contribution. The contributions 
recognized in respect of defined contribution plans are expensed as 
they fall due. Liabilities or assets may be recognized if underpayment or 
prepayment has occurred and are included in current liabilities or current 
assets as they are normally of a short-term nature.

(c) Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by 
the Bank before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee 
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Bank 
recognizes termination benefits at the earlier of when it can no longer 
withdraw the offer of such benefits and when it recognizes costs for a 
restructuring that is within the scope of PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets , and involves the payment of termination 
benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, 
the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees 
expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months 
after the reporting period are discounted to their present value.
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(d) Bonus Plans

The Bank recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses based on a 
formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Bank’s 
shareholders after certain adjustments. The Bank recognizes a provision 
where it is contractually obliged to pay the benefits, or where there is a 
past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(e) Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days 
(including holiday entitlement) remaining at the end of reporting period. 
They are included in the Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities account 
in the statement of financial position at the undiscounted amount that the 
Bank expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement. Starting 2014, 
compensated absences convertible to monetary consideration accruing 
to employees qualified under the retirement plan are funded by the Bank 
through its post-employment retirement fund. Accordingly, the related 
Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities previously recognized is reversed 
upon contribution to the retirement fund.

2.18 Income Taxes

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred 
tax and current tax not recognized in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity, if any.

Current tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations 
to, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that 
are uncollected or unpaid at the end of the reporting period. They are 
calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal 
periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All 
changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component 
of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary 
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax base of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes. Under the liability method, with certain exceptions, deferred 
tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences 
and deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences and the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused 
tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each 
reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profit will be available to allow such deferred 
tax assets to be recovered.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability 
is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilized. 

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Bank 
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a 
component of tax expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if the Bank has a 
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same entity and the same 
taxation authority.

2.19 Trust Operations

The Bank commonly acts as trustee and in other fiduciary capacities that 
result in the holding or placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, 
post-employment benefit plans and other institutions. These assets and 
income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements, as 
they are not assets of the Bank.

2.20 Events After the End of Reporting Period

Any post-year-end event that provides additional information about the 
Bank’s financial position at the end of the reporting period (adjusting 
event) is reflected in the financial statements. Post-year-end events 
that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the 
financial statements.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The Bank’s financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS require 
management to make judgments and estimates that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and related notes. Judgments 
and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may 
likely differ from these estimates and the differences could be significant.
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3.1 Critical Management Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies

In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management 
has made the following judgments, apart from those involving estimation, 
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements:

(a) Classification of Financial Assets as HTM Investments

The Bank follows the guidance of PAS 39 in classifying non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity 
as HTM investments. This classification requires significant judgment. 
In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates its intention and ability to 
hold such investments up to maturity. If the Bank fails to keep these 
investments to maturity other than for specific circumstances as allowed 
under the standards, it will be required to reclassify the whole class 
as AFS securities. In such a case, the investments would, therefore, be 
measured at fair value, not at amortized cost. 

In 2013, the Bank reclassified all of its HTM investments to AFS securities 
in accordance with PAS 39 (see Note 9).

(b) Impairment of AFS Securities

The Bank follows the guidance of PAS 39 in determining when an 
investment is permanently impaired. This determination requires 
significant judgment. In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates, among 
other factors, the significant and prolonged decline in the fair value of 
an investment below its costs and the financial health of and near-term 
business outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and 
sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing 
cash flow. 

Details of impairment losses on the Bank’s AFS securities are disclosed 
in Note 8. Future changes in those information and circumstances might 
significantly affect the carrying amount of the assets.

(c) Distinction between Operating and Finance Leases

The Bank has entered into various lease agreements as a lessee. Critical 
judgment was exercised by management to distinguish each lease 
agreement as either an operating or finance lease by looking at the 
transfer or retention of significant risk and rewards of ownership of 
the properties covered by the agreements. Failure to make the right 
judgement will result in either overstatement or understatement of assets 
and liabilities. 
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(d) Recognition of Provisions and Contingencies

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions 
and contingencies. Policies on recognition and disclosure of provisions 
and contingencies are discussed in Note 2.10 and relevant disclosures are 
presented in Note 27.

3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting period, that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of resources and liabilities within the next reporting period:

(a) Impairment on Financial Assets (Loans and Receivables and AFS 
Securities)

The Bank reviews its Loans and receivables, and AFS securities portfolios 
to assess for impairment at least on a quarterly basis. In determining 
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the Bank 
makes judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating 
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows 
from the portfolio before the decrease can be identified with an individual 
item in that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data 
indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of 
borrowers or issuers in a group, or national or local economic conditions 
that correlate with defaults on assets in the group.

Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets 
with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment 
similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. 
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount 
and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any 
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Details of impairment losses recognized by the Bank on its financial 
assets are presented below.

Notes 2015 2014

Loans and receivables 10 P 25,274,838 P 44,201

Other resources 12 - 485,430

P 25,274,838 P 529,631

During 2015, the Bank reclassified allowance for impairment loss on AFS 
securities amounting to P120,550,048 to allowance for impairment loss on 
loans and receivables (see Notes 8 and 10). 
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(b) Fair Value Measurements for Financial Instruments

The Bank carries certain financial assets at fair value, which requires 
the extensive use of accounting estimates and judgment. Significant 
components of fair value measurement were determined using verifiable 
objective evidence such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
volatility rates. However, the amount of changes in fair value would differ 
if the Bank utilized different valuation methods and assumptions. Any 
change in fair value of these financial resources and liabilities would 
affect profit or loss and equity.

The tables below summarize the carrying amounts and fair values by 
categories of those financial assets and liabilities in the statements of 
financial position (amounts in thousands): 

Notes 2015 2014

Carrying Values Fair Values Carrying Values Fair Values

Financial Assets

Loans and receivables:

Due from BSP 6 P 9,440,381 P 9,440,381 P 10,118,740 P 10,118,740

Due from other banks 6 2,999,034 2,999,034 1,618,114 1,618,114

Receivable from customers - net 10 5,554,401 6,183,495 5,790,698 6,168,826

Other receivables - net 10 11,181,475 11,181,475 97,777 97,777

Other resources* 12 1,772,186 1,772,186 289,095 289,095

30,947,477 31,576,571 17,914,424 18,292,552

Financial assets at FVTPL: 7

Derivative financial assets 3,790,534 3,790,534 2,508,949 2,508,949

Government bonds 975,118 975,118 188,439 188,439

Other debt securities 1,081,233 1,081,233 223,150 223,150

5,846,885 5,846,885 2,920,538 2,920,538

AFS financial assets: 8

Government debt securities – net 8,783,732 8,783,732 13,046,107 13,046,107

Other debt securities – net 5,891,542 5,891,542 4,773,979 4,773,979

Equity securities ** - - 155 155

14,675,274 14,675,274 17,820,241 17,820,241

P 51,467,854 P 52,096,984 P 38,655,203 P 39,033,331

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortized cost:

Deposit liabilities 13 P 42,315,140 P 42,265,814 P 30,997,291 P 31,012,692

Other liabilities 16 633,761 633,761 128,764 128,764

Financial liabilities at fair value:

Derivative financial liabilities 15 2,990,572 2,990,572 1,775,824 1,775,824

P 45,939,473 P 45,890,147 P 32,901,879 P 32,917,280

* Other resources include margin deposits, petty cash and other deposits.
** The carrying amount of unquoted equity securities of P5,500,100 (absolute amount) as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 are excluded from the table above since no market data is available.
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(i) Due from BSP and other banks

Due from BSP pertains to deposits made by the Bank to the BSP for 
clearing, reserve requirements and placement of excess liquidity in 
Special Deposit Account (SDA). Due from others banks include interbank 
placements and items in the course of collection. The fair value of 
floating rate placements and overnight deposits is their carrying amount. 
The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on 
discounted cash flows using prevailing money-market interest rates for 
debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity, which for short-term 
deposits approximates the nominal value. 

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL (except derivatives) and AFS securities

The fair value of financial assets at FTVPL and AFS securities is 
determined by direct reference to published price quoted in an active 
market for traded securities. On the other hand, unquoted AFS securities 
are carried at cost because the fair value cannot be reliably determined 
either by reference to similar financial instruments or through valuation 
technique. 

(iii) Derivatives 

The fair values of derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in 
an active market are determined through valuation techniques using the 
net present value computation.

Valuation techniques are used to determine fair values which are 
validated and periodically reviewed. To the extent practicable, models 
use observable data, however, areas such as credit risk (both own and 
counterparty), volatilities and correlations require management to make 
estimates. Changes in assumptions could affect the reported fair value 
of financial instruments. The Bank uses judgment to select a variety 
of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market 
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. 

(iv) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are presented net of provisions for impairment, 
if any. The estimated fair value of loans and receivables represents 
the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be 
received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to 
determine fair value. 

(v) Deposits and borrowings

The estimated fair value of demand deposits with no stated maturity, 
which includes non interest-bearing deposits, is the amount repayable 
on demand. The estimated fair value of long-term fixed interest-bearing 
deposits and other borrowings without quoted market price is based 
on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar 
remaining maturity. 
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(vi) Other Resources and Liabilities

Due to their short duration, the carrying amounts of other resources and 
liabilities in the statements of financial position are considered to be 
reasonable approximation of their fair values. 

For financial instruments that are liquid or which have relatively short-
term maturities (less than three months), the Bank assumes that the 
carrying amounts approximate their fair value. This applies to due 
from BSP and other banks, SPURRA, demand deposits, short-term time 
deposits and other liabilities. This assumption also applies to floating rate 
financial instruments (e.g., receivable from customers, deposit liabilities) 
with repricing frequencies of every three months or less.

(c) Estimation of Useful Lives of Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and 
Equipment 

The Bank estimates the useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures 
and equipment based on the period over which the assets are expected 
to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of bank premises, 
furniture, fixtures and equipment are reviewed periodically and are 
updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical 
wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other 
limits on the use of the assets.

The carrying amounts of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment 
are presented in Note 11. Actual results, however, may vary due to changes 
in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. There 
is no change in the estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, 
fixtures and equipment during the year.

(d) Determination of Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets

The Bank reviews its deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting 
period and reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Management assessed that 
the deferred tax assets recognized as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 will 
be fully utilized in the coming years. The carrying value of deferred tax 
assets as of those dates is disclosed in Notes 12 and 23.

(e) Impairment of Non-financial Assets

In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount 
of each asset or a cash-generating unit based on expected future cash 
flows and uses an interest rate to calculate the present value of those 
cash flows. Estimation uncertainty relates to assumptions about future 
operating results and the determination of a suitable discount rate (see 
Note 2.16). Though management believes that the assumptions used in 
the estimation of fair values reflected in the financial statements are 
appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in those assumptions may 
materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and any resulting 
impairment loss could have a material adverse effect on the results of 
operations.

No impairment losses on non-financial assets were recognized in 2015 
and 2014.
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(f) Valuation of Post-employment Defined Benefit Obligation

The determination of the Bank’s obligation and cost of post-employment 
defined benefit is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used 
by actuaries in calculating such amounts. Those assumptions include, 
among others, discount rates, expected rate of return on plan assets, 
salary rate increase and employee turnover rate. A significant change in 
any of these actuarial assumptions may generally affect the recognized 
expense, other comprehensive income or losses and the carrying amount 
of the post-employment benefit obligation in the next reporting period. 

The amounts of post-employment benefit obligation and expense and 
an analysis of the movements in the estimated present value of post-
employment benefit, as well as the significant assumptions used in 
estimating such obligation are presented in Note 21.

(g) Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

The table below shows the financial assets of the Bank as of December 31, 
2015 and 2014 which are subject to offsetting, enforceable master 
netting arrangements and similar agreements which are not set off in the 
statements of financial position (amounts in thousands):

December 31, 2015

Financial 
assets

Financial  
liabilities  
available  
for set-off

Collateral  
received

Net  
Amount

Financial assets at FVTPL

Currency forwards P 752,086 P 696,610 P - P 55,476

Interest rate swaps 15,375 15,375 - -

Loans and receivables

Receivables from customers 45,577 - 45,577 -

Other resources

Margin deposits on currency forwards 1,770,767 1,770,767 - -

Total P 2,583,805 P 2,482,752 P 45,577 P 55,476

December 31, 2014

Financial 
assets

Financial 
liabilities  
available  
for set-off

Collateral  
received

Net  
Amount

Financial assets at FVTPL

Currency forwards P 826,249 P 765,627 P - P 60,622

Interest rate swaps 6,479 6,479 - -

Loans and receivables

Receivables from customers 26,217 - 26,217 -

Other resources

Margin deposits on currency forwards 287,709 287,709 - -

Total P 1,146,654 P 1,059,815 P 26,217 P 60,622
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The following financial liabilities with net amounts presented in the 
statements of financial position are not set off in the statements of 
financial position subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting 
arrangements and similar agreements which are (amount in thousands):

December 31, 2015

Financial 
assets

Financial
assets

available
for set-off

Collateral
given

Net  
Amount

Deposit liabilities P 47,366 P 45,577 P - P 1,789

Financial liabilities

Currency forwards 2,467,377 696,610 1,770,767 -

Interest rate swaps 25,343 15,375 - 9,968

Total P 2,540,086 P 757,562 P 1,770,767 P 11,757

December 31, 2014

Financial 
assets

Financial
assets

available
for set-off

Collateral
given

Net  
Amount

Deposit liabilities P 30,807 P 26,217 P - P 4,590

Financial liabilities

Currency forwards 1,413,788 765,627 287,709 360,452

Interest rate swaps 10,675 6,479 - 4,196

Total P 1,455,270 P 798,323 P 287,709 P 369,238

For the financial assets and liabilities subject to enforceable master 
netting arrangements or similar arrangements above, each agreement 
between the Bank and counterparties allows for net settlement of the 
relevant financial assets and liabilities when both elect to settle on a net 
basis. In the absence of such an election, financial assets and liabilities 
will be settled on a gross basis; however, each party to the master netting 
agreement or similar agreement will have the option to settle all such 
amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.

4. RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1 Strategy in Using Financial Instruments

By their nature, the Bank’s activities are principally related to the use of 
financial instruments including derivatives. The Bank accepts deposits 
from customers at fixed and floating rates, and for various periods, and 
seeks to earn above-average interest margins by investing these funds 
in high-quality assets. The Bank seeks to increase these margins by 
consolidating short-term funds, lending and investing for longer periods 
at higher rates, while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims 
that might fall due.
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The Bank also trades in financial instruments where it takes positions in 
traded and over-the-counter instruments, including derivatives, to take 
advantage of short-term market movements in bonds and in currency and 
interest rate prices. 

To manage the financial risk for holding financial assets and liabilities, the 
Bank operates an integrated risk management system to address the risks 
it faces in its banking activities, including credit, liquidity, market (foreign 
exchange, interest rate, price risk) and operational risks. The Bank’s 
risk management objective is to adequately and consistently evaluate, 
manage, control, and monitor the risk profile of the Bank’s statements 
of financial position to optimize the risk-reward balance and maximize 
return on the Bank’s capital. The Bank’s Risk Management Committee 
(RMC) has overall responsibility for the Bank’s risk management systems 
and sets risks management policies across the full range of risks to which 
the Bank is exposed. Specifically, the Bank’s RMC places limits on the 
level of exposure that can be taken in relation to trading positions. With 
the exception of specific hedging arrangements, foreign exchange and 
interest rate exposures associated with these derivatives are normally 
offset by entering into counterbalancing positions, thereby controlling the 
variability in the net cash amounts required to liquidate market positions.

Within the Bank’s overall risk management system, the Assets and 
Liabilities Committee (ALCO) is responsible for managing the Bank’s 
statements of financial position, including the Bank’s liquidity, interest 
rate and foreign exchange related risks. In addition, ALCO formulates 
investment and financial policies by determining the asset allocation 
and funding mix strategies that are likely to yield the targeted financial 
results.

Separately, the Risk Management Group (RMG) is mandated to adequately 
and consistently evaluate, manage, control and monitor the over-all risk 
profile of the Bank’s activities across the different risk areas (i.e. credit, 
market, liquidity, and operational) to optimize the risk-reward balance and 
maximize return on capital. 

The RMG has responsibility for the setting of risk policies across the full 
range of risks to which the Bank is exposed to.

In the performance of its function, RMG observes the following 
framework:

• It is responsible for policy formulation in coordination with the 
relevant businesses/functions and ensures that proper approval for 
the manuals/policies is obtained from the appropriate body.

• It disseminates the approved policies to the relevant businesses/
functions after which, pertinent authorities are delegated down 
to the businesses/functions to guide them in the conduct of their 
businesses/functions. RMG then performs compliance monitoring and 
review to ensure approved policies are adhered to.
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• It is responsible for clarifying interpretations of risk policies/guidelines 
raised by the Business Heads/Units.

• When adverse trends are observed in the account/portfolio, RMG is 
responsible for flagging these trends and ensuring relevant policies 
for problem accounts/portfolio management are properly applied. 

• It is responsible for the direct management of Non-Performing Loan 
(NPL) accounts under its supervision and ensures that appropriate 
strategies are formulated to maximize collection and/or recovery of 
these assets.

• It is also responsible for regular review and monitoring of accounts 
under its supervision and ensuring that the account’s loan 
classification is assessed timely and accurately.

4.2 Market Risk

The Bank’s exposure to market risk, the risk of future loss from changes 
in the price of a financial instrument, relates primarily to its holdings in 
foreign exchange instruments, debt securities and derivatives. The Bank 
manages its risk by identifying, analyzing and measuring relevant or likely 
market risks. Market Risk Management recommends market risk limits 
based on relevant activity indicators for approval by the Bank’s RMC 
and BOD. 

4.2.1 Foreign Exchange Risk

The Bank manages its exposure to effects of fluctuations in the foreign 
currency exchange rates by maintaining foreign currency exposure 
within the existing regulatory guidelines and at a level that it believes 
to be relatively conservative for a financial institution engaged in that 
type of business.

The Bank’s net foreign exchange exposure is computed as its foreign 
currency resources less foreign currency liabilities plus contingent 
assets less contingent liabilities. BSP regulations impose a cap of 20% 
of unimpaired capital or US$50 million, whichever is lower, on the 
consolidated excess foreign exchange holdings of banks in the Philippines. 
The Bank’s foreign exchange exposure is primarily foreign exchange 
trading with corporate accounts and other financial institutions. The Bank, 
as a market participant in the Philippine Dealing System, may engage in 
proprietary trading to take advantage of foreign exchange fluctuations.

The Bank’s foreign exchange exposure during the day is guided by the 
limits set forth in the Bank’s Risk Management Manual. These limits are 
within the prescribed ceilings mandated by the BSP. At the end of each 
day, the Bank reports to the BSP on its compliance with the mandated 
foreign currency exposure limits. 
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The tables below set out the composition of the Bank’s financial resources 
and liabilities as to currency as of December 31, 2015 and 2014:

2015

Foreign
Currencies

Philippine
Peso Total

Resources:

Due from BSP P - P 9,440,381,444 P 9,440,381,444

Due from other banks 2,900,666,600 98,367,312 2,999,033,912

Financial assets at FVTPL 1,223,361,297 4,623,523,353 5,846,884,650

AFS securities 6,914,140,260 7,766,633,502 14,680,773,762

Loans and receivables 417,202,336 16,318,672,723 16,735,875,059

Other resources 1,770,767,311 1,418,564 1,772,185,875

P 13,226,137,804 P 38,248,996,898 P 51,475,134,702

Liabilities:

Deposit liabilities P 10,639,947,126 P 31,675,193,023 P 42,315,140,149

Derivative financial liabilities 49,036,350 2,941,536,094 2,990,572,444

Other liabilities 1,965,459 631,795,213 633,760,672

P 10,690,948,935 P  35,248,524,330 P 45,939,473,265

2014

Foreign
Currencies

Philippine
Peso Total

Resources:

Due from BSP P - P 10,118,740,396 P 10,118,740,396

Due from other banks 1,528,947,790 89,165,909 1,618,113,699

Financial assets at FVTPL 248,748,756 2,671,789,273 2,920,538,029

AFS securities 6,945,045,879 10,880,694,747 17,825,740,626

Loans and receivables 773,102,079 5,115,373,323 5,888,475,402

Other resources 287,709,128 1,386,345 289,095,473

P 9,783,553,632 P 28,877,149,993 P 38,660,703,625

Liabilities:

Deposit liabilities P 7,441,917,736 P 23,555,372,922 P 30,997,290,658

Derivative financial liabilities 20,113,299 1,755,710,974 1,775,824,273

Other liabilities 1,916,245 126,847,580 128,763,825

P 7,463,947,280 P 25,437,931,476 P 32,901,878,756

4.2.2 Interest Rate Risk 

The Bank prepares a gap analysis in the banking book to measure the 
sensitivity of its resources, liabilities and off-book items to interest 
rate fluctuations. The focus of analysis is the impact of changes in 
interest rates on accrual or reported earnings. This analysis would give 
management a glimpse of the re-pricing profile of its interest sensitive 
resources and liabilities. An interest rate gap report is prepared by 
classifying all financial assets and liabilities into various time buckets 
according to contracted maturities if fixed or anticipated repricing dates 
if floating or based on behavioural assumptions if more applicable. 
In the interest rate gap presented, loans and investments are profiled 
based on next repricing if floating or contracted maturity if fixed rate 
while non-maturity deposit liabilities are considered non-rate sensitive. 
The difference in the amount of resources and liabilities maturing or 
being repriced in any time period category would then give the Bank an 
indication of the extent to which it is exposed to the risk of potential 
changes in net interest income. 
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The following table shows the amounts of the Bank’s resources and 
liabilities that are subject to different interest rate arrangements as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 (amounts in thousands): 

2015 2014

Resources Liabilities Resources Liabilities

Subject to floating interest rates P 293,122 P 24,116 P 639,910 P 4,164

Subject to fixed interest rates 44,705,612 45,274,300 26,035,103 32,475,325

Non interest-bearing 6,619,666 745,590 12,213,793 563,646

P 51,618,400 P 46,044,006 P 38,888,806 P  33,043,135

The analyses of the groupings of resources, liabilities and off book items 
as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 based on expected interest realization 
or recognition are presented below (amounts in millions): 

2015

One to
three

months

More
than three
months to
one year

More
than one
year to

five years

More
than five

years
Non-rate
sensitive Total

Resources:

Due from BSP P 3,021 P - P - P - P 6,419 P 9,440

Due from other banks 1,506 9 - - 1,484 2,999

Trading and investment 
securities 940 1,459 7,265 8,821 2,043 20,528

Loans and receivables 11,508 906 1,895 2,427 - 16,736

Other resources 2 - - - 1,913 1,915

Total Resources 16,977 2,374 9,160 11,248 11,859 51,618

Liabilities and Equity:

Deposit liabilities 29,942 1,192 2,807 - 8,374 42,315

Other liabilities - - - - 3,729 3,729

Total Liabilities 29,942 1,192 2,807 - 12,103 46,044

Equity - - - - 5,574 5,574

Total Liabilities and Equity 29,942 1,192 2,807 - 17,677 51,618

On-book Gap (12,965) 1,182 6,353 11,249 (5,819) -

Cumulative On-book Gap (12,965) (11,783) (5,430) 5,819 - -

Contingent Resources 4,725 - - - - 4,725

Contingent Liabilities 4,706 - - - - 4,706

Off-book Gap 19 - - - - 19

Cumulative Total Gap (P 12,946) (P 11,764) (P 5,411) P 5,838 (P 19) P -

76



2014

One to
three

months

More
than three
months to
one year

More
than one
year to

five years

More
than five

years
Non-rate
sensitive Total

Resources:

Due from BSP P 5,515 P - P  - P - P 4,604 P 10,119

Due from other banks 447 - - - 1,171 1,618

Trading and investment 
securities 900 892 6,737 11,798 419 20,746

Loans and receivables 724 639 2,078 2,447 - 5,888

Other resources - - - - 518 518

Total Resources 7,586 1,531 8,815 14,255 6,712 38,889

Liabilities and Equity:

Deposit liabilities 21,601 704 1,463 - 7,229 30,997

Other liabilities - - - - 2,046 2,046

Total Liabilities 21,601 704 1,463 - 9,275 33,043

Equity - - - - 5,846 5,846

Total Liabilities and Equity 21,601 704 1,463 - 15,121 38,889

On-book Gap (14,015) 827 7,352 14,245 (8,409) -

Cumulative On-book Gap (14,015) (13,188) (5,836) 8,409 - -

Contingent Resources 1,568 - - - - 1,568

Contingent Liabilities 1,565 - - - - 1,565

Off-book Gap 3 - - - - 3

Cumulative Total Gap (P 14,012) (P 13,185) (P 5,833) P 8,412 P 3 P -

The Bank’s market risk management limits are generally categorized as 
limits on: 

• Value-at-risk (VaR) – The RMG computes the VaR benchmarked at 
a level which is a percentage of projected earnings. The Bank uses 
the VaR model to estimate the daily potential loss that the Bank 
can incur from its trading book, based on a number of assumptions 
with a confidence level of 99%. The measurement is designed such 
that exceptions over limits should only arise in very exceptional 
circumstances.

• Stop loss – The RMG sets the amount of each risk-bearing activity at 
a percentage of the budgeted annual income for such activity.

• Nominal position – The RMG sets the nominal amount to prevent 
over-trading, excessive concentration, and to limit financial loss 
supplementing other already established limits.

• Trading volume – The Risk Management Group sets the volume of 
transactions that any employee may execute at various levels based 
on the rank of the personnel making the risk-bearing decision.

• Earnings-at-risk – The RMG computes the earnings-at-risk based on 
the repricing profile of the Banking Book and benchmarks against 
projected annual net interest income and capital.
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VaR is one of the key measures in the Bank’s management of market risk. 
VaR is defined as a statistical estimate of the maximum possible loss on 
a given position during a time horizon within a given confidence interval. 
The Bank uses a 99% confidence level and a 260-day observation period 
in VaR calculation. The Bank’s VaR limit is established as a percentage of 
projected earnings and is used to alert senior management whenever the 
potential losses in the Bank’s portfolios exceed tolerable levels.

Because the VaR measure is tied to market volatility, it therefore allows 
management to react quickly and adjust its portfolio strategies in 
different market conditions in accordance with its risk philosophy and 
appetite. The VaR model is validated through back-testing. 

Although VaR is an important tool for measuring market risk, the 
following assumptions stated on the succeeding pages are the 
assumptions on which the model is based to give rise to some limitations. 

• A one-day holding period assumes that it is possible to hedge or 
dispose of positions within that period. This is considered to be a 
realistic assumption in almost all cases but may not be the case in 
situations in which there is severe market illiquidity for a prolonged 
period.

• A 99% confidence level does not reflect losses that may occur 
beyond this level. Even within the model used, there is a one percent 
probability that losses could exceed the VaR.

• VaR is calculated on an end-of-day basis and does not reflect 
exposures that may arise on positions during the trading day.

• The use of historical data as a basis for determining the possible 
range of future outcomes may not always cover all possible scenarios, 
especially those of an exceptional nature; and,

• The VaR measure is dependent upon the Bank’s position and the 
volatility of market prices. The VaR of an unchanged position reduces 
if the market price volatility declines and vice versa.

The limitations of the VaR methodology are recognized by supplementing 
VaR limits with other position and sensitivity limit structures, including 
limits to address potential concentration risks within each trading 
portfolio. In addition, the Bank uses a wide range of stress tests to model 
the financial impact of a variety of exceptional market scenarios on 
individual trading portfolios and the Bank’s overall position. 

Stress VaR is also performed on all portfolios as a complementary 
measure of risk. While VaR deals with risk during times of normality, 
stress testing is used to measure the potential effect of a crisis or low 
probability event. 
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A summary of the VaR position of the Bank’s trading portfolios as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 follows: 

2015 2014

VaR Stress VaR VaR Stress VaR

Foreign currency risk P 3,785,069 P 67,275,967 P 1,963,104 P 24,739,079

Interest rate risk – Peso 34,301,402 377,908,468 6,231,645 102,506,821

Interest rate risk – USD 13,233,668 359,872,973 2,737,105 100,644,352

P 51,320,139 P 805,057,408 P 10,931,854 P 227,890,252

The earnings-at-risk before tax in a rising and declining interest rate 
scenario for financial assets and liabilities repriced during 2015 and 2014 
is shown below (amounts in millions). 

2015

Change in interest rates (in basis points)

-100 +100 -50 +50

Change on annualized net  
interest income P 143.4 (P 143.4) P 71.7 (P 71.7)

As a percentage of the Bank’s 
net interest income for 2015 15.49% ( 15.49%) 7.75% ( 7.75%)

Earnings-at-risk P 176.7

2014

Change in interest rates (in basis points)

-100 +100 -50 +50

Change on annualized net  
interest income P 124.74 (P 124.74) P 62.37 (P 62.37)

As a percentage of the Bank’s 
net interest income for 2014 15.62% ( 15.62%) 7.81% ( 7.81%)

Earnings-at-risk P 46.31

4.3 Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that there will could be insufficient funds 
available to adequately meet the credit demands of the Bank’s customers 
and repay deposits on maturity. The Bank manages liquidity risk by 
holding sufficient liquid assets of appropriate quality to ensure short-
term funding requirements are met and by maintaining a balanced loan 
portfolio which is repriced on a regular basis. In addition, the Bank seeks 
to maintain sufficient liquidity to take advantage of interest rate and 
exchange rate opportunities when they arise. 
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The analyses of the maturity groupings of resources, liabilities and off-
book item as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, in accordance with the 
account classifications of the BSP, are presented as follows (amounts 
in millions). The amounts disclosed in the maturity analysis are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows using the primary contractual 
maturities or behavioural assumptions on core levels (e.g. core deposit 
liabilities), if the latter is more relevant in profiling the liquidity gap. Such 
undiscounted cash flows may differ from the amounts included in the 
statements of financial position because certain items in the statements 
of financial position are based on discounted cash flows.

2015

One to 
three 

months

More 
than three 
months to 
one year

More 
than one 
year to 

five years

More than 
five 

years Total

Resources:

Due from BSP P 9,440 P - P - P - P 9,440

Due from other banks 2,999 - - - 2,999

Trading and investment securities 2,970 1,453 7,257 8,848 20,528

Loans and receivables 11,436 990 1,910 2,400 16,736

Other resources 79 1,700 - 136 1,915

Total Resources 26,924 4,143 9,167 11,384 51,618

Liabilities and Equity:

Deposit liabilities 15,539 437 956 25,383 42,315

Other liabilities 53 - - 3,676 3,729

Total Liabilities 15,592 437 956 29,059 46,044

Equity - - - 5,574 5,574

Total Liabilities and Equity 15,592 437 956 34,633 51,618

On-book Gap 11,332 3,706 8,211 (23,249) -

Cumulative On-book Gap 11,332 15,038 23,249 - -

Contingent Resources 9,141 4,363 40,091 3,011 56,605

Contingent Liabilities 9,262 4,229 39,605 2,989 56,085

Off-book Gap (121) 134 486 22 521

Cumulative Total Gap P 11,211 P 15,051 P 23,748 P 521 P -
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2014

One to 
three 

months

More 
than three 
months to 
one year

More 
than one 
year to 

five years

More  
than five 

years Total

Resources:

Due from BSP P 10,119 P - P - P - P 10,119

Due from other banks 1,618 - - - 1,618

Trading and investment securities 1,313 892 6,875 11,666 20,746

Loans and receivables 304 415 2,714 2,455 5,888

Other resources 288 - - 230 518

Total Resources 13,642 1,307 9,589 14,351 38,889

Liabilities and Equity:

Deposit liabilities 18,718 145 312 11,822 30,997

Other liabilities 50 - - 1,996 2,046

Total Liabilities 18,768 145 312 13,818 33,043

Equity - - - 5,846 5,846

Total Liabilities and Equity 18,768 145 312 19,664 38,889

On-book Gap (5,126) 1,162 9,277 (5,313) -

Cumulative On-book Gap (5,126) (3,964) 5,313 - (4,440)

Contingent Resources 7,115 5,083 38,218 5,236 55,652

Contingent Liabilities 7,276 4,930 37,722 5,215 55,143

Off-book Gap (161) 153 496 21 509

Cumulative Total Gap (P 5,287) (P 3,972) P 5,801 P 509 P -

Contractual Maturity Analysis - Derivative Financial Liabilities 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank’s derivative financial 
liabilities for which contractual maturities are essential for the 
understanding of cash flows have contractual maturities as follows 
(amounts in thousands):

2015

One to 
three 

months

More 
than three 
months to 
one year

More 
than one 
year to 

five years

More  
than five 

years Total

Cross-currency swaps P 233,935 P 145,531 P 2,442,336 P 96,557 P 2,918,359

Interest rate swaps - - - 64,917 64,917

Forwards 7,038 258 - - 7,296

P 240,973 P 145,790 P 2,442,336 P 161,474 P 2,990,572

2014

One to 
three 

months

More 
than three 
months to 
one year

More 
than one 
year to 

five years

More  
than five 

years Total

Cross-currency swaps P 111,695 P 100,613 P 1,355,434 P 178,664 P 1,746,406

Interest rate swaps - - 24,732 - 24,732

Forwards 4,686 - - - 4,686

P 116,381 P 100,613 P 1,380,166 P 178,664 P 1,775,824
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4.4 Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty in a transaction may default 
and arises from lending, treasury, derivatives and other activities 
undertaken by the Bank. The Bank manages its credit risk and loan 
portfolio through the RMG, which undertakes several functions with 
respect to credit risk management. 

The RMG undertakes credit analysis and review to ensure consistency 
in the Bank’s risk assessment process. The RMG performs risk ratings 
for corporate accounts and risk scoring for consumer accounts. It also 
ensures that the Bank’s credit policies and procedures are adequate 
to meet the demands of the business. The RMG is also responsible for 
developing procedures to streamline and expedite the processing of 
credit applications. 

The RMG also undertakes portfolio management by reviewing the Bank’s 
loan portfolio, including the portfolio risks associated with particular 
industry sectors, regions, loan size and maturity, and development of a 
strategy for the Bank to achieve its desired portfolio mix and risk profile. 

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits 
on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower or issuer, 
or groups of borrowers or issuers, and to geographical and industry 
segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an 
annual or more frequent review.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the 
ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital 
repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits when 
appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by securing 
eligible collateral/guarantees. 

The RMG reviews the Bank’s loan portfolio in line with the Bank’s policy 
of not having significant unwarranted concentrations of exposure to 
individual counterparties, in accordance with the BSP’s prohibitions 
on maintaining a financial exposure to any single person or group of 
connected persons in excess of 25% of its net worth. 

82



The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the 
components of the statements of financial position, including derivatives. 
The maximum exposure is gross, before the effect of mitigation through 
the use of netting and collateral agreements.

Notes 2015 2014

Due from BSP 6 P 9,440,381,444 P 10,118,740,396

Due from other banks 6 2,999,033,912 1,618,113,699

Financial assets at FVTPL 7

Derivatives 3,790,533,780 2,508,949,082

Private debt securities 1,081,232,596 223,149,549

Government securities 975,118,274 188,439,398

AFS securities 8

Government securities 8,783,732,033 13,058,786,517

Private debt securities 5,891,541,629 4,881,849,057

Loans and receivables (gross) 10

Receivable from customer 5,735,450,803 5,822,804,159

Other receivables 11,181,474,517 97,821,544

Other resources 12

Margin deposits 1,768,985,400 287,709,128

Others 1,418,564 1,386,345

Total 51,648,902,952 38,807,748,874

Loan commitments 27 192,525,829 218,975,715

P 51,841,428,781 P 39,026,724,589

The following table sets out the credit quality by class of the Bank’s 
on-book financial assets (gross of allowance for impairment) as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 (amounts in thousands).

2015

Cash and Cash  
Equivalents**

Loans and  
Receivables

Trading and  
Investment  
Securities

Neither past due nor impaired:

Grade: Unclassified P 25,270,112 P 5,856,996 P 20,522,159

2014

Cash and Cash  
Equivalents**

Loans and  
Receivables

Trading and  
Investment  
Securities

Neither past due nor impaired:

Grade: Unclassified P 12,024,563 P 5,647,191 P 20,861,174

Grade C: Loans Especially Mentioned* - 273,435 -

P 12,024,563 P 5,920,626 P 20,861,174

* Accounts classified as Loans Especially Mentioned (LEM) are individual credits that have potential 
weaknesses particularly on documentation or credit administration that deserve management’s 
close attention, based on the BSP’s results of examination for 2013. The potential weaknesses, if left 
uncorrected, may affect the repayment prospects of the loan and thus heighten the credit risk to 
the Bank.
** Amount includes margin deposits with foreign bank and other financial assets classified under Other 
Resources (see Note 12) and SPURRA classified under Loans and Receivables (see Note 10).
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The Bank holds some collateral against loans to customers in the form of 
deposits and money market investments; fixed, floater and zero coupon 
bonds and notes guaranteed by the government; fixed, floater or zero 
coupon bonds issued by domestic corporations; and listed and publicly 
traded liquid equity issues. The market values of collaterals are based 
on the previous day’s closing price and are revalued daily. Collateral 
generally is not held over due from other banks, interbank loans and 
investment securities, except when securities are held as part of reverse 
repurchase and securities borrowing activities. 

Estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements 
held against the following loans and receivables risk groupings as of 
December 31 follows:

2015 2014

Individually impaired (LEM)

Real properties P - P 990,265,000

Equities - 387,071,000

Total - 1,377,336,000

Neither past due nor impaired

Equities 963,214,830 280,553,874

Real properties 736,726,667 -

Debt Securities 296,007,461 431,183,538

Others 78,085,814 67,526,796

2,074,034,772 779,264,208

P 2,074,034,772 P 2,156,600,208

The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by 
geographic location. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk (gross of 
allowance for impairment) at the reporting date is shown below.

December 31, 2015

Cash and Cash  
Equivalents*

Loans and  
Receivables

Trading and  
Investment  
Securities

Concentration by sector:

Financial and insurance activities P 25,270,111,556 P 680,037,309 P 6,175,036,831

Electricity, gas, steam and  
air-conditioning supply - 1,188,451,165 831,175,805

Arts, entertainment and recreation - 1,153,086,473 748,518,528

Real estate activities - 291,235,229 1,285,990,785

Transportation and storage - 1,136,827,349 212,090,654

Wholesale and retail trade - 212,287,519 50,220,641

Government - - 9,818,950,655

Mining and quarrying - - 1,304,722,813

Agriculture 3,014,211

Other service activities - 1,192,057,176 95,451,600

P 25,270,111,556 P 5,856,996,431 P 20,522,158,312
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December 31, 2015

Cash and Cash  
Equivalents*

Loans and  
Receivables

Trading and  
Investment  
Securities

Concentration by location:

Philippines P 25,270,111,556 P 5,572,325,789 P 17,867,783,537

Other - 284,670,642 2,654,374,775

P 25,270,111,556 P 5,856,996,431 P 20,522,158,312

December 31, 2014

Cash and Cash  
Equivalents*

Loans and  
Receivables

Trading and 
Investment  
Securities

Concentration by sector:

Financial and insurance activities P 12,024,563,223 P 1,407,480,436 4,266,371,446

Electricity, gas, steam and  
air-conditioning supply - 1,652,827,021 958,954,369

Arts, entertainment and recreation - 1,153,086,473 625,197,157

Real estate activities - 389,396,456 304,544,966

Transportation and storage - 283,985,638 108,764,705

Wholesale and retail trade - 226,274,825 92,720,970

Government - - 13,044,719,751

Mining and quarrying - - 1,226,875,498

Information and Communication - 44,541,240

Other service activities 807,574,854 188,483,501

P 12,024,563,223 P 5,920,625,703 P 20,861,173,603

December 31, 2014

Cash and Cash  
Equivalents*

Loans and  
Receivables

Trading and  
Investment  
Securities

Concentration by location:

Philippines P 10,249,048,201 P 5,183,977,678 P 18,210,120,820

Other 1,775,515,021 736,648,025 2,651,052,783

P 12,024,563,223 P 5,920,625,703 P 20,861,173,603

* Amount includes margin deposits with foreign bank and other financial assets classified under Other 
Resources (see Note 12) and SPURRA classified under Loans and Receivables (see Note 10).

4.5 Equity Risk

Equity risk is the risk that the fair values of equity investments will 
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the 
value of individual stocks (whether traded or not). The Bank has no 
significant equity risk.
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4.6 Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss due to the Bank’s:

• failure to comply with defined Bank operational procedures;

• inability to address fraud committed internally or externally; 

• inability to handle system failures; and, 

• inability to cope with the impact of external events.

The Bank manages its operational risks by having policies to minimize 
its expected losses, allocating capital for the unexpected losses, and 
having insurance and/or a business continuity plan to prepare for 
catastrophic losses. 

4.6.1 Framework

True to its commitment to sound management and corporate 
governance, the Bank considers operational risk management as 
a critical element in the conduct of its business. Under the Bank’s 
Operational Risk Management (ORM) framework, the BOD has the 
ultimate responsibility for providing leadership in the management of 
risk in the Bank. The business and service unit heads, as risk owners, 
are responsible for identifying, assessing and limiting the impact of 
risk in their respective businesses. The RMG provides the common risk 
language and management tools across the Bank as well as monitors the 
implementation of the ORM framework and policies.

Throughout 2015, the Bank continued to pursue its proactive management 
of identified operational risks, focusing on the ongoing adoption of 
the Risk and Control Self-Assessment process so that business process 
owners could document both their operational risks and the control 
mechanisms they have put in place to manage those risks. This ORM 
tool allows the Bank to identify risks the business/operation faces, 
assess the severity of those risks, evaluate the adequacy of key controls 
associated to the identified risks, and take proactive action to address 
any deficiencies identified.

Operational risks arising from health, safety and environmental issues are 
appropriately managed through policies and measures that are integrated 
into the Bank’s day-to-day operations. These include Environmental 
Consciousness, Occupational Health and Safety, and Community Health 
and Safety.
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5. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT AND DISCLOSURES 

5.1 Fair Value Hierarchy 

In accordance with PFRS 13, the fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities and non-financial assets which are measured at fair value on 
a recurring or non-recurring basis and those assets and liabilities not 
measured at fair value but for which fair value is disclosed in accordance 
with other relevant PFRS, are categorized into three levels based on 
the significance of inputs used to measure the fair value. The fair value 
hierarchy has the following levels: 

(a) Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that an entity can access at the measurement date; 

(b) Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and, 

(c) Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The level within which the asset or liability is classified is 
determined based on the lowest level of significant input to the fair 
value measurement. 

For purposes of determining the market value at Level 1, a market is 
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available 
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or 
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

For investments which do not have quoted market price, the fair value is 
determined by using generally acceptable pricing models and valuation 
techniques or by reference to the current market of another instrument 
which is substantially the same after taking into account the related 
credit risk of counterparties, or is calculated based on the expected cash 
flows of the underlying net asset base of the instrument. 

When the Bank uses valuation technique, it maximizes the use of 
observable market data where it is available and relies as little as possible 
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to determine 
the fair value of an instrument are observable, the instrument is included 
in Level 2. Otherwise, it is included in Level 3. 

Notes to Financial Statements

87



5.2 Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value 

The table below shows the fair value hierarchy of the Bank’s classes of 
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statements of 
financial position on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 
(amounts in thousands). 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

December 31, 2015

Resources:

Financial assets at FVTPL:

Derivative financial assets P - P 3,790,534 P - P 3,790,534

Government bonds 975,118 - - 975,118

Other debt securities 1,081,233 - - 1,081,233

AFS securities – net:

Government debt securities 8,783,732 - - 8,783,732

Other debt securities 5,891,541 - - 5,891,541

P 16,731,624 P 3,790,534 P - P 20,522,168

Liabilities:

Derivatives financial liabilities P - P 2,990,572 P - P 2,990,572

December 31, 2014

Resources:

Financial assets at FVTPL:

Derivative financial assets P - P 2,508,949 P - P 2,508,949

Government bonds 188,439 - - 188,439

Other debt securities 223,150 - - 223,150

AFS securities – net

Government debt securities 13,046,107 - - 13,046,107

Other debt securities 4,773,979 - - 4,773,979

Equity securities 155 - - 155

P 18,231,830 P 2,508,949 P - P 20,740,779

Liabilities:

Derivatives financial liabilities P - P 1,775,824 P - P 1,775,824

There have been no significant transfers among Levels 1 and 2 in the 
reporting periods. 

Described below is the information about how the fair values of the 
Bank’s classes of financial assets are determined.

(a) Equity securities

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, instruments included in Level 1 
consist of quoted equity securities classified as AFS securities. These 
securities were valued based on their closing prices on the Philippine 
Stock Exchange.
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(b) Debt securities

The fair value of the Bank’s debt securities, which are categorized within 
Level 1 is discussed below.

(i) For peso-denominated government debt securities issued by the 
Philippine government, fair value is determined to be the reference 
price as appearing in the PDEX which is computed based on the 
weighted average of done or executed deals, the simple average of all 
firm bids per benchmark tenor or interpolated yields. This is consistent 
with BSP Circular No. 813, issued by the BSP pursuant to Monetary 
Board Resolution No. 1504 dated September 13, 2013.

(ii) For other quoted debt securities, fair value is determined to be the 
current mid price, which is computed as the average of ask and bid 
prices as appearing on Bloomberg.

(c) Derivatives 

The fair value of derivative financial instruments, which are categorized 
within Level 2, is determined through valuation techniques using the net 
present value computation [see Note 3.2 (b)(iii)].

5.3 Financial Instruments Measured at Amortized Cost for which Fair 
Value is Disclosed

The table below summarizes the fair value hierarchy of the Bank’s 
financial assets and liabilities which are not measured at fair value in 
the statements of financial position but for which fair value is disclosed 
(amounts in thousands).

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

December 31, 2015

Resources:

Due from BSP P 9,440,381 P - P - P 9,440,381

Due from other banks 2,999,034 - - 2,999,034

Loans and other receivable 11,726,468 - 5,638,502 17,364,970

Other resources 1,770,767 - 1,419 1,772,186

P 25,936,650 P - P 5,639,921 P 31,576,571

Liabilities:

Deposit liabilities P 34,751,872 P - P 7,513,942 P 42,265,814

Other liabilities - - 633,761 633,761

P 34,751,872 P - P 8,147,703 P 42,899,575
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

December 31, 2014

Resources:

Due from BSP P 10,118,740 P - P - P 10,118,740

Due from other banks 1,618,114 - - 1,618,114

Loans and other receivable 738,791 - 5,527,812 6,266,603

Other resources 287,709 - 1,386 289,095

P 12,763,354 P - P 5,529,198 P 18,292,552

Liabilities:

Deposit liabilities P 23,589,560 P - P 7,423,132 P 31,012,692

Other liabilities - - 128,764 128,764

P 23,589,560 P - P 7,551,896 P 31,141,456

For financial assets and financial liabilities with fair values included in 
Level 1, management considers that the carrying amounts of those short-
term financial instruments approximate their fair values. 

There have been no significant transfers among Levels 1 and 3 in the 
reporting periods.

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

6.l Due from BSP

This account is composed of the following:

2015 2014

Mandatory reserves P 6,418,877,944 P 4,602,821,229

Other than mandatory reserves 3,021,503,500 5,515,919,167

P 9,440,381,444 P 10,118,740,396

Mandatory reserves represent the balance of the deposit account 
maintained with the BSP to meet reserve requirements and to serve as 
clearing account for interbank claims. Deposits with the BSP other than 
mandatory reserves comprise of SDA. 

Due from BSP under SDA bears annual effective interest rates of 2.50% 
in 2015 and 2.00% to 2.50% in 2014, except for the amounts within 
the required reserve as determined by BSP. Total interest income 
earned amounted to P121,353,255 and P185,248,098 in 2015 and 2014, 
respectively, and is included as part of Interest Income on Due from Other 
Banks in the statements of income.

Due from BSP is included in cash and cash equivalents for cash flow 
statement reporting purposes.

Under Section 254 of the Manual of Regulations for Banks (MORB), a 
bank is required to maintain reserve requirements in the form of deposits 
with the BSP as among the allowable instruments for reserve cover. 
Section 254.1 of the MORB further provides that such deposit account 
with the BSP is not considered as a regular current account as BSP checks 
for drawings against such deposits shall be limited to (a) settlement of 
obligations with the BSP, and (b) withdrawals to meet cash requirements.

90



6.2 Due from Other Banks

The balance of this account represents regular deposits with 
the following:

Note 2015 2014

Foreign banks P 2,686,517,704 P 1,487,805,893

Local banks 22.1 312,516,208 130,307,806

P 2,999,033,912 P 1,618,113,699

A breakdown of this account by currency follows:

2015 2014

United States (U.S.) dollar P 2,732,852,128 P 1,493,438,639

Philippine peso 98,367,312 89,165,909

Other foreign currencies 167,814,472 35,509,151

P 2,999,033,912 P 1,618,113,699

These deposits earn effective interest at rates ranging from 0.18% to 
0.29% and 0.02% to 0.15% per annum in 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The total interest earned on due from other banks amounted to P3,819,919 
in 2015 and P1,508,515 in 2014.

7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

This account is composed of the following:

Notes 2015 2014

Derivatives 15, 22.1 P 3,790,533,780 P 2,508,949,082

Government securities 975,118,274 188,439,398

Private debt securities 1,081,232,596 223,149,549

P 5,846,884,650 P 2,920,538,029

As to currency, this account is composed of the following:

2015 2014

Philippine peso P 4,623,523,353 P 2,671,789,273

Foreign currencies 1,223,361,297 248,748,756

P 5,846,884,650 P 2,920,538,029
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Government securities consist of various treasury bills and other 
securities issued by the government that earn coupon interest from 1.6% 
to 9.1% and 0.0% to 9.5% per annum in 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Private debt securities include local and foreign private corporate 
securities that earn coupon interest from 3.5% to 7.5% and 4.4% to 7.5% 
per annum in 2015 and 2014, respectively.

In 2015, effective interest rate range from 2.4% to 5.0% and 1.8% to 
6.4% for peso denominated and foreign currency denominated FVTPL 
securities, respectively. In 2014, effective interest rates range from 1.3% 
to 5.0% and 1.8% to 7.1% for peso denominated and foreign currency 
denominated FVTPL securities, respectively. The total interest earned on 
financial assets at FVTPL are presented in the statements of income which 
amounted to P32,679,680 and P18,391,035 in 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The Bank recognized net realized trading gains on financial assets at 
FVTPL amounting to P236,325,045 and P263,241,645 in 2015 and 2014, 
respectively, which are included as part of Trading and Securities Gain – 
net in the statements of income. Unrealized loss on FVTPL amounted to 
P64,450,018 and P25,268,191 in 2015 and 2014 respectively. 

8. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES

This account is composed of the following:

Notes 2015 2014

Debt securities

Government securities P 8,783,732,033 P 13,058,786,517

Private debt securities 5,891,541,629 4,881,849,057

Equity securities

Quoted - 155,000

Not quoted 5,500,100 5,500,100

14,680,773,762 17,946,290,674

Allowance for impairment 3.2(a), 10 - (120,550,048)

P 14,680,773,762 P 17,825,740,626

As to currency, this account is composed of the following:

2015 2014

Philippine peso P 7,766,633,502 P 10,880,694,747

Foreign currencies 6,914,140,260 6,945,045,879

P 14,680,773,762 P 17,825,740,626
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Changes in the Bank’s holdings of AFS securities are summarized below.

Notes 2015 2014

Balance at beginning of year P 17,825,740,626 P 9,992,209,320

Additions 14,913,950,760 16,171,832,747

Disposals (18,215,779,964) (8,532,506,991)

Fair value gains (losses) (300,339,570) 164,955,897

Foreign currency revaluation 336,651,864 29,249,653

Reclassification of allowance for impairment  
to Loans and receivables 3.2(a), 10 120,550,048 -

Balance at end of year P 14,680,773,762 P 17,825,740,626

Debt securities earn coupon interest from 3.25% to 7.38% per annum 
in 2015 and 1.63% to 11.63% per annum in 2014. Private debt securities 
pertain to local and foreign private corporate securities.

Effective interest rates range from 1.69% to 7.69% and 1.42% to 7.34% for 
peso denominated and foreign currency denominated AFS securities, 
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2015. Effective interest 
rates range from 0.57% to 3.59% and 0.57% to 7.17% for peso denominated 
and foreign currency denominated AFS securities, respectively, for the 
year ended December 31, 2014. 

Total interest earned on AFS securities amounted to P555,134,616 in 2015 
and P462,930,180 in 2014. Net gains on the disposal of AFS securities 
amounted to P211,284,584 and P82,355,767 in 2015 and 2014, respectively, 
and are included as part of Trading and Securities Gain – net in the 
statements of income.

In compliance with the regulations that govern the Bank’s trust functions, 
government bonds owned by the Bank with a total face value of 
P2,801,906,400 and P2,876,545,000 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively, are deposited with the BSP (see Note 24). 

9. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS 

In 2013, the Bank reclassified its entire HTM investments amounting to 
P6,998,378,454 to AFS securities in anticipation of its planned disposal 
in accordance with PAS 39. In 2014, the Bank fully disposed of the tainted 
securities. In accordance with the standards, the Bank may classify its 
investment to HTM starting 2016.
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10. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 

Loans and receivables consist of the following: 

Notes 2015 2014 

Receivables from customers 

Commercial P 5,735,450,803 P 5,168,184,712 

Consumer - 654,619,447 

5,735,450,803 5,822,804,159 

Allowance for impairment 3.2(a), 8 (181,050,261 ) (32,106,100 )

5,554,400,542 5,790,698,059 

SPURRA 11,059,928,889 -

Other receivables 121,545,628 97,821,544 

Allowance for impairment -  (44,201 )

121,545,628 97,777,343 

P 16,735,875,059 P 5,888,475,402 

The maturity profile of the Bank’s receivables from customers are follows: 

2015 2014 

Within one year P 1,104,136,405 P 738,790,919 

Beyond one year within five years 963,933,970 2,746,785,806 

Beyond five years 3,667,380,428 2,337,227,434 

P 5,735,450,803 P 5,822,804,159 

As to security, receivables from customers are classified into: 

2015 2014 

Secured: 

Real estate mortgage P 222,536,802 P 360,351,143 

Others 1,104,136,405 664,676,894 

Unsecured 4,408,777,596 4,797,776,122 

P 5,735,450,803 P 5,822,804,159 

SPURRA held by the Bank has an average term of 0 to 90 days both in 
2014 and 2015. Receivables from customers earn effective interest at 
rates ranging from 2.12% to 8.54% and 2.00% to 8.54% per annum in 2015 
and 2014, respectively. The total interest earned on loans and receivables 
amounted to P501,791,905 in 2015 and P420,891,576 in 2014.

Movement of the Bank’s allowance for impairment are as follows: 

Notes 2015 2014 

Balance at beginning of year P 32,150,301 P 32,106,100 

Reclassification of allowance for  
impairment from AFS securities 120,550,048 - 

Impairment loss 3.2(a), 8 25,274,838 44,201 

Changes due to foreign exchange rate 3,075,074 - 

Balance at end of year P 181,050,261 P 32,150,301 
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In 2014, the Bank recognized additional allowance amounting to P44,201 
on a past due employee receivable lodged under Other receivables [(see 
Note 3.2(a)]. In 2015, the Bank reclassified allowance for impairment on 
foreign currency denominated AFS to allowance for loans and receivables. 
The resulting change due to foreign currency revaluation is recorded 
under Foreign exchange gain – net in the statements of income. 

11. BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND EQUIPMENT 

The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation and 
amortization at the beginning and end of 2015 and 2014 are shown below. 

Furniture, 
Fixtures and 
Equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvements Total 

December 31, 2015 

Cost P 152,941,172 P 129,886,503 P 282,827,674 

Accumulated depreciation and 
amortization (134,149,644 ) (103,709,483) (237,859,126) 

Net carrying amount P 18,791,529 P 26,177,020 P 44,968,549 

December 31, 2014 

Cost P 147,303,183 P 118,971,536 P 266,274,719 

Accumulated depreciation and 
amortization (114,291,597 ) (89,465,127) (203,756,724) 

Net carrying amount P 33,011,586 P 29,506,409 P 62,517,995 

January 1, 2014 

Cost P 123,834,922 P 102,528,875 P 226,363,797 

Accumulated depreciation and 
amortization (90,716,254 )  (76,646,404) (167,362,658)

Net carrying amount P 33,118,668 P 25,882,471 P 59,001,139 

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of bank premises, furniture, 
fixtures and equipment at the beginning and end of 2015 and 2014 is 
shown below. 

Furniture, 
Fixtures and 
Equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvements Total 

Balance at January 1, 2015, net of  
accumulated depreciation and amortization P 33,011,586 P 29,506,409 P 62,517,995 

Additions 5,639,857 10,898,688 16,538,545 

Depreciation and amortization  
charges for the year (19,859,914 ) (14,228,077 ) (34,087,991 ) 

Balance at December 31, 2015 net of  
accumulated depreciation and amortization P 18,791,529 P 26,177,020 P 44,968,549 

Balance at January 1, 2014, net of  
accumulated depreciation and amortization P 33,118,668 P 25,882,471 P 59,001,139 

Additions 24,874,510 16,444,529 41,319,039 

Depreciation and amortization  
charges for the year (24,981,592 )  (12,820,591 ) (37,802,183 ) 

Balance at December 31, 2014 net of  
accumulated depreciation and amortization P 33,011,586 P 29,506,409 P 62,517,995 

Total cost of fully depreciated assets, consisting of furniture, fixtures and 
equipment amounted to P96,276,928 and P66,509,415 in 2015 and 2014, 
respectively, are still being used by the Bank. 
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The BSP requires that investments in bank premises, furniture, fixtures 
and equipment do not exceed 50% of the Bank’s unimpaired capital. As 
of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank has satisfactorily complied with 
this requirement. 

12. OTHER RESOURCES 

This account consists of: 

Note 2015 2014 

Margin deposits P 1,770,767,311 P 287,709,128 

Deferred tax assets – net 23 57,786,813 72,645,660 

Deferred charges – net 13,096,454 18,215,599 

Documentary stamps 10,449,640 9,976,121 

Creditable withholding taxes 9,353,430 3,545,911 

Prepaid expenses 5,617,127 2,768,750 

Others 3,391,614 60,303,664 

1,870,482,386 455,164,833 

Allowance for impairment - (485,430 ) 

P 1,870,482,386 P 454,679,403 

Margin deposits consist of placements with foreign banks that are 
offered by the Bank as security on its derivative transactions with certain 
counterparties. Interest rates on margin deposits ranged between 0.08% 
to 0.36% and 0.06% to 0.13% in 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

Deferred charges consist mainly of purchased software costs which are 
capitalized and amortized over one to three years. Amortization charges 
related to software costs amounted to P14,024,739 and P8,164,602 in 
2015 and 2014, respectively, and are included as part of Depreciation and 
Amortization in the statements of income.

In 2014, the Bank recognized impairment amounting to P485,430 on 
creditable and VAT withholding tax credits lodged under Others, which is 
presented as part of Impairment Losses in the 2014 statement of income 
[see Note 3.2(a)].

13. DEPOSIT LIABILITIES 

The maturity profile of the Bank’s deposit liabilities follows: 

2015 2014 

Within one year P 38,421,720,629 P 26,969,325,130 

Beyond one year up to five years 3,893,419,520 4,027,965,528 

P 42,315,140,149 P 30,997,290,658 

The classification of the Bank’s deposit liabilities as to currency follows: 

2015 2014 

Philippines peso P 31,675,193,023 P 23,555,372,922 

Foreign currencies 10,639,947,126 7,441,917,736 

P 42,315,140,149 P 30,997,290,658 
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Interest expense on deposit liabilities comprises of: 

2015 2014 

Demand P 222,700,530 P 188,207,563 

Time 65,722,508 52,208,849 

P 288,423,038 P 240,416,412 

Interest rates on time deposits ranged between 0.38% to 2.63% and 0.25% 
to 1.75% per annum for 2015 and 2014, respectively. For demand deposits, 
interest rates ranged from 0.13% to 0.15% and 0% to 2.50% in 2015 and 
2014, respectively. 

Effective May 2014, non-FCDU deposit liabilities of the Bank are subject 
to a reserve requirement of 20%. Previous requirement of 18% liquidity 
and statutory reserves were amended last May 2014 under BSP Circular 
No. 832, Increase in Reserve Requirements. 

14. BILLS PAYABLE 

Bills payable represents the Bank’s borrowings from other local and 
foreign banks and entities which bear annual interest rates ranged from 
2.5% to 2.5% and 0.90% to 1.20% in 2015 and 2014, respectively. As 
of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank has no outstanding secured 
liabilities and assets pledged as security. 

15. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Bank uses derivative instruments for both hedging and non-hedging 
purposes. Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase 
foreign and domestic currency, including undelivered spot transactions. 
Currency and interest swaps are commitments to exchange one set 
of cash flows for another. Swaps result in an economic exchange of 
currencies or interest rates or a combination of all these. No exchange 
of principal takes place, except for certain currency swaps. The Bank’s 
credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the swap contracts if 
counterparties fail to perform their obligation.

This risk is monitored on an on-going basis with reference to the current 
fair value, a proportion of the notional amount of the contracts and 
the liquidity of the market. To control the level of credit risk taken, 
the Bank assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for its 
lending activities. 
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The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a 
basis for comparison with instruments recognized in the statements of 
financial position but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future 
cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and, 
therefore, do not indicate the Bank’s exposure to credit or price risks.

The derivative instruments become favorable or unfavorable as a result 
of fluctuations in market interest rates, foreign exchange rates and 
other underlying relative to their terms. The aggregate contractual or 
notional amount of derivative financial instruments on hand, the extent to 
which instruments are favorable or unfavorable, and thus the aggregate 
fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities, can fluctuate 
significantly from time to time.

The fair values of derivative instruments held are set out below (see also 
Notes 7 and 22). 

Notional  
Amount

Fair Values

Assets Liabilities

December 31, 2015

Free-standing: 

Cross currency swaps P 46,176,143,300 P 3,762,785,677 P 2,918,359,388 

Interest rate swaps 7,226,030,000 4,679,224 64,916,600 

Forward contracts 

Sell: USD/PHP 13,992,097 23,068,879 7,296,456 

Buy: USD/PHP 13,938,000 - - 

P 53,430,103,397 P 3,790,533,780 P 2,990,572,444 

Notional  
Amount

Fair Values 

Assets Liabilities 

December 31, 2014

Free-standing: 

Cross currency swaps P 49,587,848,737 P 2,562,574,555 P 1,746,406,252 

Interest rate swaps 3,056,025,000 5,893,042 24,731,962 

Forward contracts 

Sell: USD/PHP 1,570,423,544 5,775,580 4,686,059 

Buy: USD/PHP 2,578,626 96,492 - 

P 54,185,960,907 P 2,508,949,082 P 1,775,824,273 

The fair value gains or losses recognized as part of Trading and Securities 
Gain – net account in the statements of income determined using a 
valuation technique amounted to a gain of P61,638,273 and a loss of 
P30,730,113 in 2015 and 2014, respectively, representing changes in fair 
value of the derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Bank. 
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16. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES 

The breakdown of this account follows: 

Notes 2015 2014 

Dividend payable 17.6 P 500,000,000 P - 

Accrued expenses 64,822,071 56,880,145 

Accrued taxes 55,467,632 39,926,886

Manager’s checks 52,726,027 50,477,640 

Withholding taxes 28,838,322 23,894,104 

Post-employment defined  
benefit obligation 21 20,036,544 18,732,956 

Sundry credits 188,417 58,702,050

Accounts payable – suppliers - 6,442,014 

Others 16,214,842 14,964,049 

P 738,293,855 P 270,019,844 

17. EQUITY 

17.1 Capital Stock 

Capital stock as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 consists of: 

Number of Shares Amount 

2015 2014 2015 2014 

Preferred shares – P1,000 par value 

Authorized – 1,250,000 shares 

Issued and outstanding 1,225,000 1,225,000 P 1,225,000,000 P 1,225,000,000 

Common shares – P1,000 par value 

Authorized – 1,250,000 shares 

Issued and outstanding 940,000 940,000 P 940,000,000 P 940,000,000 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank has one only stockholder 
owning 100 or more shares of the Bank’s capital stock. 

17.2 Preferred Shares 

The following are the features of the Bank’s preferred shares: 

(a) The BOD may specify the terms, conditions, qualifications, 
restrictions and privileges of the preferred non-voting stock. All 
preferred shares shall be of equal rank, preference, priority and shall be 
identical in all respects regardless of series. 

(b) The holders of serial preferred stock shall be entitled to receive 
dividends, when, as and if declared by the BOD out of funds legally 
available and not before any dividends on the common stock shall be 
paid or set apart for payments. 
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(c) The holders of the preferred shares shall not be entitled to vote 
at any meeting of the stockholders for the election of directors or for 
any other purpose or participate in any action taken by the Bank or 
its stockholders. 

17.3 Common Shares 

The Bank has an authorized common stock of 1,250,000 voting shares 
with a par value of P1,000 per share. 

17.4 Revaluation Reserves 

The components and reconciliation of items of other comprehensive 
income presented in the statements of changes in equity at their 
aggregate amount under Revaluation Reserves account, are shown below. 

Note 

Unrealized 
Losses  

(Gains) on  
AFS Securities 

Accumulated  
Actuarial  
Losses Total 

Balance as of January 1, 2015 (P 44,264,166 ) P 63,007,931  P 18,743,765 

Transfer of realized gains to profit or loss  
on disposal of securities 300,339,570 - 300,339,570 

Unrealized gains during the year (211,284,584 ) - (211,284,584 )

Remeasurements of post-employment 
defined benefit obligation - 409,207 409,207 

Other comprehensive  
(income) loss before tax 89,054,986 409,207 89,464,193 

Tax benefit 23.1 -  (122,762 ) (122,762 )

Other comprehensive  
(income) loss after tax 89,054,986 286,445 89,341,431 

Balance as of December 31, 2015 P 44,790,820 P 63,294,376 P 108,085,196 

Balance as of January 1, 2014 P 119,843,360 P 65,086,105 P 184,929,465 

Transfer of realized gains to profit or loss  
on disposal of securities 848,371 - 848,371 

Unrealized gains during the year (164,955,897 ) -  (164,955,897 )

Remeasurements of post-employment 

defined benefit obligation -  (2,968,820 ) (2,968,820 )

Other comprehensive  
(income) loss before tax (164,107,526 ) (2,968,820 ) (167,076,346 )

Tax expense 23.1 - 890,646 890,646 

Other comprehensive  
(income) loss after tax (164,107,526 ) (2,078,174) (166,185,700)

Balance as of December 31, 2014 (P 44,264,166 ) P 63,007,931 P 18,743,765 
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17.5 Surplus Reserve

In compliance with the requirements of the General Banking Act relative 
to the Bank’s trust functions, certain percentage of the trust income is 
transferred to surplus reserve. This yearly transfer is required until the 
surplus reserve for trust function is equivalent to 20% of the Bank’s 
authorized capital stock. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, accumulated 
appropriated surplus related to the Bank’s trust functions amounted to 
P173,018,204 and P140,786,546, respectively.

17.6 Surplus Free 

On December 1, 2014 the BOD approved dividends amounting to 
P350 million (or P161.66 per share for preferred and common stock). The 
BSP approved the Bank’s declaration of dividend to BDO Unibank on 
March 12, 2015. The dividend was paid on March 23, 2015. Additionally, 
on December 15,2015, the BOD approved dividends amounting to P500 
million (or P230.95 per share for both preferred and common stock). The 
dividend payable is recorded under Accrued Taxes and Other Liabilities 
(Note 16). 

17.7 Capital Management 

On January 15, 2009, the BSP issued Circular No. 639 articulating the 
need for banks to adopt and document an Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ICAAP). All universal and commercial banks are 
expected to perform a thorough assessment of all their material risks 
and maintain adequate capital to support these risks. This is intended to 
complement the current regulatory capital requirement of at least 10% of 
risk assets, which covered only credit, market and operational risks. 

On December 29, 2009, the BSP issued Circular No. 677 effectively 
extending the implemention of ICAAP from January 2010 to January 2011. 

The BDO Group is complying with the BSP’s ICAAP. BDO Unibank is 
driving the preparation and compliance requirements of the ICAAP 
bankwide/group-wide policies. Annualy as required, BDO Unibank submits 
its updated ICAAP to the BSP. The Bank is closely coordinating with BDO 
Unibank regarding said policies. 

The Bank’s lead regulator, the BSP, sets and monitors capital requirements 
for the Bank. In implementing current capital requirements, the BSP 
requires the Bank to maintain a prescribed ratio of qualifying capital to 
risk-weighted assets. 

The BSP has adopted the Basel 3 risk-based capital adequacy framework 
effective January 1, 2014, which requires the Bank, as a subsidiary of a 
universal bank required to adopt Basel 3, to maintain the following: 

(a) Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) of at least 6.0% of risk-weighted assets; 

(b) Tier 1 Capital of at least 7.5% of risk-weighted assets; 

(c) Qualifying Capital (Tier 1 plus Tier 2 Capital) of at least 10.0% of 
risk-weighted assets; and, 

(d) Capital Conservation Buffer of 2.5% of risk-weighted assets, 
comprised of CET1 Capital. 
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The regulatory capital is analyzed as CET1 Capital, Additional Tier 1 
Capital and Tier 2 Capital, each adjusted for prescribed regulatory 
deductions. 

Risk assets consist of total assets after exclusion of cash on hand, due 
from BSP, loans covered by hold-out on or assignment of deposits, loans 
or acceptances under letters of credit to the extent covered by margin 
deposits, and other non-risk items as determined by the Monetary Board 
of the BSP. 

The Bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base as to maintain 
investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on 
shareholder ’s return is recognized by the Bank as well as the need to 
maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible 
with greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound 
capital position. 

At the end of each reporting period, the Bank has complied with the 
prescribed ratio of qualifying capital to risk-weighted assets. 

Further, under an existing BSP circular, commercial banks must meet a 
minimum capital threshold amounting to P2.0 billion. As of December 
31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank has complied with the above capitalization 
requirement. 

The Bank’s regulatory capital position (computed using balances prepared 
under PFRS) based on the Basel 3 risk-based capital adequacy framework 
as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows: 

2015 2014 

Tier 1 Capital 

CET 1 P 4,349,006,771 P 4,563,817,875 

Additional Tier 1 1,225,000,000 1,225,000,000 

5,574,006,771 5,788,817,875 

Tier 2 Capital 181,050,261 58,690,538 

Total Regulatory Capital 5,755,057,032 5,847,508,413 

Deductions (71,158,887 ) (91,849,692 ) 

Total Qualifying Capital P 5,683,898,145 P 5,755,658,721 

Total Risk Weighted Assets P 25,895,860,000 P 21,395,453,725

Capital ratios: 

CET 1 Ratio 16.52 % 20.90 % 

Capital Conservation Buffer 10.52 % 14.90 % 

Tier 1 Capital Ratio 21.25 % 26.63 % 

Total Capital Adequacy Ratio 21.95 % 26.90 % 
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18. SERVICE CHARGES, FEES AND COMMISSIONS 

This account is composed of the following: 

Note 2015 2014 

Trust fees 24 P 587,200,674 P 443,781,959 

Upfront fees – net - (1,035,806 ) 

Others – net 6,630,859 12,927,285 

P 593,831,533 P 455,673,438 

Upfront fees are incurred from sold credit default swap (net of bought) in 
2014 (nil in 2015). 

19. THIRD PARTY INFORMATION 

Third party information refers to service charges incurred by the Bank for 
market data obtained from service providers such as: Reuters, Prebon, 
Moody’s and Bloomberg (used in the Bank’s treasury operations). 

20. OTHER EXPENSES 

This account is composed of the following:

2015 2014

Security, messengerial and janitorial services P 17,445,089 P 15,990,609 

Advertising 16,137,163 13,625,536 

Fines, penalties and other charges 10,986,000 10,880,000 

Communication 8,713,622 7,458,731 

Transfer fees and charges 8,480,177 8,456,597 

Custodianship fees 8,335,250 16,454,608 

Repairs and maintenance 6,725,670 9,416,532 

Stationery and supplies 4,158,743 4,932,481 

Courier services 2,198,858 2,194,405 

Contractual services 1,605,586 1,413,441 

Miscellaneous 4,123,543 10,250,568 

P 88,909,701 P 101,073,508 
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21. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

21.1 Employee Benefits 

The total expense recognized by the Bank for employee benefits is broken 
down below. 

2015 2014 

Salaries and wages P 329,684,817 P 291,805,016 

Post-employment defined benefit expense 31,809,248 51,146,148 

Social security and medical benefits 3,678,749 9,057,435 

Others 5,899,830 645,706 

P 371,072,644 P 352,654,305 

21.2 Post-employment Defined Benefit 

(a) Characteristics of the Defined Benefit Plan 

The Bank maintains a funded, tax-qualified, noncontributory and multi-
employer post-employment benefit plan that is being administered 
by a trustee bank that is legally separated from the Bank. The post-
employment plan covers all regular full-time employees. 

The normal retirement age is 60 with a minimum of five years of credited 
service. The plan also provides for an early retirement at age 50 with a 
minimum of five years of credited service and late retirement after age 
60, both subject to the approval of the Bank’s BOD. Normal retirement 
benefit is an amount equivalent to 150% of the final monthly covered 
compensation (average monthly basic salary during the last 12 months of 
credited service) for every year of credited service.

(b) Explanation of Amounts Presented in the Financial Statements 

Actuarial valuations are made annually to update the retirement benefit 
costs and the amount of contributions. All amounts presented below are 
based on the actuarial valuation report obtained from an independent 
actuary in 2015 and 2014. 
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The amounts of post-employment defined benefit obligation recognized 
in the statements of financial position are presented as part of Accrued 
Expenses and Other Liabilities (see Note 16) follow: 

2015 2014 

Present value of obligation P 344,661,879 P 311,866,174 

Fair value of plan assets (324,625,335 )  (293,133,218 ) 

Deficiency of plan assets P 20,036,544 P 18,732,956 

The movements in the present value of the post-employment benefit 
obligation recognized in the books are as follows: 

2015 2014 

Balance at beginning of year P 311,866,174 P 293,087,600 

Current service cost 31,809,248 31,162,653 

Interest cost 14,969,576 12,485,532 

Other liabilities –  
Sick leave and vacation leave benefits* - 19,983,495 

Remeasurements – Actuarial losses (gains) 
arising from: 

- experience adjustments 4,352,399 15,873,825 

- changes in demographic assumptions (7,273,590 ) (10,641,929 ) 

- changes in financial assumptions (7,040,737 ) (9,773,218 ) 

Benefits paid (4,021,191 ) (40,311,784 ) 

Balance at end of year P 344,661,879 P 311,866,174 

* Other liabilities pertain to accrued sick leave and vacation leave credits of employees that qualify 
under the retirement plan of the Bank.

The movements in the fair value of plan assets are presented below. 

2015 2014 

Balance at beginning of year P 293,133,218 P 282,931,469 

Interest income 14,721,790 12,047,070 

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts 
included in net interest)  (10,371,135 ) 1,572,502 

Benefits paid  (4,021,191 )  (40,311,784 ) 

Contributions 31,162,653 40,038,965 

Balance at end of year P 324,625,335 P 293,133,218 
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The composition of the fair value of plan assets at the end of 
the reporting period for each category and risk characteristics is 
shown below. 

2015 2014 

Placements in debt instruments 

- Government bonds P 130,272,147 P 97,818,555 

- Corporate bonds 61,743,739 49,568,827 

Cash and cash equivalents 66,126,181 62,554,629 

Unit investment trust funds (UITF) 34,345,360 40,598,951 

Equity instruments 6,038,031 3,400,345 

Loans and other receivables 4,090,279 8,530,177 

Other properties 22,009,598 30,661,734 

P 324,625,335 P 293,133,218 

Actual return on plan assets amounted to P4,350,655, and P10,474,568 in 
2015 and 2014, respectively. 

Plan assets do not comprise any of the Bank’s own financial instruments 
or any of its assets occupied and/or used in its operations. 

The components of amounts recognized in profit or loss and in other 
comprehensive income in respect of the defined benefit plan are 
as follows: 

Note 2015 2014 

Recognized in profit or loss: 

Current service cost P 31,809,248 P 31,162,653 

Net interest expense 247,786 438,462 

Sick leave and vacation leave benefits  
(past and and current year) - 19,983,495 

P 32,057,034 P 51,584,610 

Recognized in other comprehensive income: 

Actuarial income (loss) arising from changes in 

- experience adjustment (P 4,352,399 ) (P 15,873,825 ) 

- financial assumptions 7,040,737 9,773,218 

- demographic assumptions 7,273,590 10,641,929 

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included  
in net interest expense) (10,371,135 ) (1,572,502)

 (409,207 ) 2,968,820 

Deferred tax income (expense) 23.1 122,762  (890,646 ) 

(P 286,445 ) P 2,078,174 

106



Current service cost and sick leave and vacation leave benefits are 
presented in the statements of income under Employee Benefits while net 
interest expense (income) is classified as Others under Interest Expense 
in the statements of income. 

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income were included within 
items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. 

In determining retirement benefits, the following actuarial assumptions 
were used: 

2015 2014 

Discount rates 5.2 % 4.8 %

Salary increase rate 8.0 % 8.0 %

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are based on 
published statistics and mortality tables. The average remaining 
working lives of an individual retiring at the age of 65 is 22 for both 
males and females. These assumptions were developed by management 
with the assistance of an independent actuary. Discount factors are 
determined close to the end of each reporting period by reference to 
the interest rates of interpolated yields of government bonds with terms 
to maturity approximating to the terms of the retirement obligation. 
Other assumptions are based on current actuarial benchmarks and 
management’s historical experience. 

(c) Risk Associated with Retirement Plan 

The plan exposes the Bank to actuarial risks such as investment risk, 
interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk. 

(i) Investment and Interest Risk 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated using a 
discount rate determined by reference to market yields of government 
bonds. Generally, a decrease in the interest rate of a reference 
government bonds will increase the plan obligation. However, this will 
be partially offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s investments 
in debt securities and if the return on plan asset falls below this rate, 
it will create a deficit in the plan. Currently, the plan has relatively 
balanced investment in cash and cash equivalents, equity securities, 
debt instruments and unit investments trust fund. Due to the long-term 
nature of plan obligation, a level of continuing debt investments is an 
appropriate element of the Bank’s long-term strategy to manage the 
plans efficiently. 
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(ii) Longevity and Salary Risks 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated by 
reference to the best estimate of the mortality of the plan participants 
both during and after their employment and to their future salaries. 
Consequently, increases in the life expectancy and salary of the plan 
participants will result in an increase in the plan obligation. 

(d) Other Information 

The information on the sensitivity analysis for certain significant actuarial 
assumptions, the Bank’s asset-liability matching strategy, and the timing 
and uncertainty of future cash flows related to the retirement plan are 
described herein:

(i) Sensitivity Analysis 

The following table summarizes the effects of changes in the significant 
actuarial assumptions used in the determination of the defined benefit 
obligation as of December 31: 

Impact on defined benefit obligation 

Change in 
assumption 

Increase in 
assumption 

Decrease in 
assumption 

December 31, 2015

Discount rate +/- 1% (P 16,715,843) P 18,695,651

Salary increase rate +/- 1% 15,958,127  (14,642,502 ) 

Impact on defined benefit obligation 

Change in 
assumption 

Increase in 
assumption 

Decrease in 
assumption 

December 31, 2014 

Discount rate +/- 1% (P 16,606,424) P 18,586,802

Salary increase rate +/- 1% 15,729,817  (14,414,981 ) 

The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an assumption while 
holding all other assumptions constant. This analysis may not be 
representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it 
is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one 
another as some of the assumptions may be correlated. Furthermore, in 
presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation has been calculated using the projected unit credit 
method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same as that 
applied in calculating the retirement benefit obligation recognized in the 
statements of financial position. 

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity 
analysis did not change compared to the previous years. 
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(ii) Asset-liability Matching Strategies 

To efficiently manage the retirement plan, the Bank through its BOD, 
ensures that the investment positions are managed in accordance with its 
asset-liability matching strategy to achieve that long-term investments 
are in line with the obligations under the retirement scheme. This strategy 
aims to match the plan assets to the retirement obligations by investing in 
long-term fixed interest securities (i.e., government or corporate bonds) 
with maturities that match the benefit payments as they fall due and in 
the appropriate currency. The Bank actively monitors how the duration 
and the expected yield of the investments are matching the expected 
cash outflows arising from the retirement obligations. In view of this, 
investments are made in reasonably diversified portfolio, such that the 
failure of any single investment would not have a material impact on the 
overall level of assets. 

A large portion of assets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 consists of 
bonds and UITF, although the Bank also invests in property and cash and 
cash equivalents. The Bank believes that equities offer the best returns 
over the long term with an acceptable level of risk. The majority of 
equities are in a diversified portfolio of local blue chip entities. 

There has been no change in the Bank’s strategies to manage its risks 
from previous periods. 

(iii) Funding Arrangements and Expected Contributions 

The plan is currently underfunded by P20.0 million based on the latest 
actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2015. While there are no minimum 
funding requirement in the country, the size of the underfunding may 
pose a cash flow risk in about 10 years’ time when a significant number of 
employees is expected to retire. 

The Bank expects to make contribution of P58.1 million to the plan during 
the next financial year. 

The maturity profile of undiscounted expected benefits payments in 2015 
from the plan follows: 

Within one year P 43,916,591 

More than one year to five years 93,569,684 

More than five years 303,911,762 

P 441,398,037 
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The summary of the Bank’s transactions with its related parties as of and 
for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows: 

2015 2014

Related Party 
Category Notes 

Amount of 
Transaction 

Outstanding 
Balance 

Amount of 
Transaction 

Outstanding 
Balance 

BDO Unibank: 

Dividends Payable 22.1(a) P 850,000,000 P 500,000,000 P - P - 

Derivative transactions 22.1(b)

Derivative assets

Buy: USD/PhP $ 419,000,000 $ - $ 242,336,000 $ - 

Interest Rate Swaps P 100,000,000 P 100,000,000 P 100,000,000 P 100,000,000

Derivative liabilities 

Buy: PhP/USD $ 419,000,000 $ 12,300,000 $ 232,750,000 $ 27,000,000

Interest Rate Swaps P 100,000,000 P 100,000,000 P - P - 

Due from other banks  
(net of withdrawals) 22.1(c) P 173,042,849 P 282,347,273 P 55,817,151 P 89,165,909

Rental 22.1(d) 25,281,538 - 25,821,538 - 

Management services 22.1(e) 1,147,500 - 1,147,500 - 

Entity under Common 

Ownership: 

Deposit liabilities  
(net of withdrawals) 22.1(c) (45,626,800 ) 90,147,935 11,108,470 135,774,735

Key Management Personnel 

Compensation  
(amounts in thousands) 22.2 155,997 - 142,002 - 

22.1 Nature of Related Party Transactions 

The transactions conducted by the Bank with related parties in the normal 
course of business are described below. 

(a) During 2014, the Bank declared dividends amounting to P350.0 
million which were approved by the BSP in 2015 and paid in 2015. In 
2015, the Bank declared dividends amounting to P500.0 million which 
remains payable as of December 31, 2015 and is presented under 
Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities in the statement of financial 
position (see Note 16). 

(b) In 2015, the Bank entered into currency forward, interest rate swap, 
and cross currency swap transactions with BDO Unibank. In 2014, the 
Bank entered into currency forward transactions with BDO Unibank. 
The outstanding derivative assets and liabilities are shown as part 
of Financial asset at FVTPL account under Trading and Investment 
Securities and Derivative Financial Liabilities account in statements of 
financial position (see Notes 7 and 15). 

(c) The Bank holds demand deposits from BDO Securities Corporation, 
an entity under common ownership, with annual interest rates at 1.00% 
in 2015 and ranging from 0.10% to 1.00% in 2014. The Bank maintains 
deposits with BDO Unibank which are included as part of Due from 
Other Banks in the statements of financial position (see Note 6.2). The 
interest rates on these deposits ranged from 0.0% to 0.25% per annum 
in 2015. In 2014, these interest rates on these deposits ranged from 
0.0% to 0.01%.
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(d) The lease agreement with BDO Unibank for a monthly rental of 
P2,459,567 was renewed on October 16, 2011. The lease term is for 
a period of five years and is payable in cash. Total expense incurred 
pertaining to this agreement is presented under Occupancy account 
in the statements of income. There are no outstanding payable to BDO 
Unibank as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.

(e) In March 2012, the BSP approved the outsourcing of several 
functions to BDO Unibank. The arrangement will allow the Bank to 
tap the resources and expertise of BDO Unibank in the areas covered 
by the new agreement, specifically in the Bank’s asset management, 
central operations, human resources management, information 
technology, internal audit services and risk management. Total expense 
incurred pertaining to this contract is presented under Management 
and Professional Fees account in the statements of income. As of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, there are no outstanding liability in 
relation to the agreement. 

22.2 Key Management Personnel Compensation 

The salaries and short-term benefits given to the Bank’s key management 
personnel are as follows (amounts in thousands): 

2015 2014 

Salaries and wages P 96,798 P 92,261 

Bonuses 49,457 45,806 

Social security costs and other benefits 9,742 3,935

P 155,997 P 142,002 

23. TAXES 

23.1 Current and Deferred Taxes 

The components of tax expense for the years ended December 31 follow: 

Notes 2015 2014 

Reported in profit or loss 

Current tax expense: 

Final tax at 20%, 10% and 7.5% P 174,193,713 P 126,402,984 

Regular corporate income tax (RCIT) at 30% - FCDU 21,377,075 38,670,505 

Minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) at 2% - RBU 11,659,165 9,842,392 

207,229,953 174,915,881 

Deferred tax expense (income) relating to origination  
and reversal of temporary differences 14,981,609  (5,931,261 ) 

Tax expense reported in the statements of income P 222,211,562 P 168,984,620 

Reported in other comprehensive income 

Deferred tax expense (income) related to  
accumulated actuarial losses 17.4, 21 (P 122,762 ) P 890,646 

Current taxes include corporate income tax and final taxes paid on 
income from FCDU and final withholding tax on gross interest income 
from debt securities and other deposit substitutes. 

Notes to Financial Statements

111



In 2015 and 2014, the Bank continued to claim itemized deductions. 
The Bank is also subject to percentage and other taxes which consist 
principally of gross receipts tax or GRT presented as part of Taxes and 
Licenses in the statements of income. 

The reconciliation of tax on pretax profit computed at the applicable 
statutory rates to tax expense attributable to continuing operations 
follows: 

2015 2014 

Tax on pretax profit at 30% P 267,082,660 P 182,889,714 

Adjustment for income subjected to  
lower tax rates  (19,746,624 )  (55,582,603 ) 

Tax effects of: 

Income exempted from income taxes  (115,267,506 ) (33,580,680 ) 

Nondeductible expenses 104,383,884 85,707,836 

Income from FCDU  (33,482,466 )  (20,450,928 ) 

Unrecognized MCIT 11,659,165 9,842,392 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets 

(DTA) of impairment losses 7,582,451 158,889 

Tax expense reported in the  
statements of income P 222,211,562 P 168,984,620 

The net deferred tax assets included as part of Other Resources (see 
Note 12) as of December 31 relate to the following:

Statements of Financial Position Profit or Loss Other Comprehensive Income

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Deferred tax assets:

Unamortized past service cost P 29,619,483 P 34,384,987 (P 4,765,504) (P 1,229,542) P - P -

Net operating loss carried 
over (NOLCO) 16,754,625 31,111,079 (14,356,454) 567,114 - -

Post-employment benefit obligation 5,936,628 5,619,887 193,979 3,463,694 122,762 (890,646)

Accrued expenses 5,476,077 1,529,707 3,946,370 (670,911) - -

Net Deferred Tax Assets P 57,786,813 P 72,645,660

Deferred Tax Income (Expense) (P 14,981,609) P 5,931,260 P 122,762 (P 890,646)

The Bank is subject to MCIT which is computed at 2% of gross income, as 
defined under tax regulations, or RCIT, whichever is higher. In both 2015 
and 2014, the Bank is subject to MCIT on its RBU since MCIT was higher 
than the RCIT.
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The details of unrecognized deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2015 
and 2014 are as follows:

2015 2014

Amount Tax Effect Amount Tax Effect

Allowance for impairment losses P 69,047,253 P 20,714,176 P 43,772,415 P 13,131,725

MCIT 27,209,557 27,209,557 15,550,392 15,550,392

P 96,256,810 P 47,923,733 P 59,322,807 P 28,682,117

The composition of and movement in the Bank’s NOLCO follow:

Year Amount

Applied and
Expired in

Current Year
Remaining

Balance
Valid
Until

2014 1,890,380 - 1,890,380 2017

2013 101,813,215 47,854,846 53,958,369 2016

P 103,703,595 P 47,854,846 P 55,848,749

The composition of and movements in the Bank’s MCIT follow:

Year Amount

Applied and
Expired in

Current Year
Remaining

Balance
Valid
Until

2015 P 11,659,165 P - P 11,659,165 2018

2014 9,842,392 - 9,842,392 2017

2013 5,708,000 - 5,708,000 2016

P 27,209,557 P - P 27,209,557

23.2 Supplemental Information Required by the Bureau of 
Internal Revenue

The BIR issued RR 15-2010 and RR 19-2011 on November 25, 2010 and 
December 9, 2011, respectively, which required certain tax information to 
be disclosed as part of the notes to the financial statements.

The supplementary information is, however, not a required part of the 
basic financial statements prepared in accordance PFRS; it is neither 
a required disclosure under the Philippine Securities and Exchange 
Commission rules and regulations covering form and content of financial 
statements under the Securities Regulation Code Rule 68.

The Bank presented this tax information required by the BIR as a 
supplementary schedule filed separately from the basic financial 
statements.
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24. TRUST OPERATIONS

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the following securities and other properties held 
by the Bank in fiduciary or agency capacity for a fee amounting to P587.2 million and 
P443.8 million, respectively, presented as Trust Fees under of Service Charges, Fees 
and Commissions in the statements of income (see Note 18) for its customers are not 
included in the accompanying statements of financial position since these are not 
resources of the Bank (see Note 27.3):

2015 2014

Cash P 85,926,269,791 P 73,279,800,164

Investments 155,258,573,722 124,497,989,831

Loans and other receivables 2,726,366,931 18,659,855,929

Real estate 3,681,637,400 2,373,902,699

Others 1,199,773,809 1,098,642,505

P 248,792,621,653 P 219,910,191,128

The trust operations of the Bank relate mainly to management of funds. 
Certain government bonds owned by the Bank are deposited with the 
BSP, as mentioned in Note 8.

25. ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

The Bank manages certain investments in special deposit accounts, debt 
securities, equity securities and other assets on behalf of its clients. Some 
of these assets under management (AUM) are included in the financial 
statements as an asset or liability of the Bank, whereas the remainder 
are accounts held in trust or held for safekeeping for the Bank’s clients 
and have been excluded from the accompanying statements of financial 
position.

The composition of the Bank’s AUM as of December 31 is set out in the 
following table (amounts in millions):

2015 2014

On – Statement of financial position P 43,337 P 31,684

Off –  Statement of financial position (including trust 
department accounts - see Note 24) 265,336 247,652

P 308,673 P 279,336

The Bank earns fees in return for its investment facilitation services. 
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank recognized 
P594.2 million and P446.6 million, respectively, in AUM-related fees 
and other income (including the trust fees earned as disclosed in Note 
24), which are distributed among various accounts presented as part of 
Service Charges, Fees and Commissions in the statements of income.
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26. SELECTED FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The following are some of the financial performance indicators of the Bank:

2015 2014

Return on average equity

Net profit 11.0% 7.5%

Average total capital accounts

Return on average common equity

Net profit 13.9% 9.5%

Average common equity

Return on average resources

Net profit 1.6% 1.2%

Average total resources

Net interest margin

Net interest income 2.4% 2.4%

Average interest-earning resources

Net income margin ratio

Net income x 100 28.9% 22.9%

Total revenues

Current ratio

Current resources 80% 79.0%

Current liabilities

Cost to income ratio

Operating cost 58.3% 66.0%

Operating income

Debt to equity ratio

Total Liabilities 8.3:1 5.7:1

Total Equity

Asset to equity ratio

Total Resources 9.3:1 6.7:1

Total Equity

Interest rate coverage

Earnings before interest and taxes 4.1:1 3.5:1

Interest expense

Capital to risk assets ratio*

Combined credit, market and operational risk 21.9% 26.9%

*Computed using balances prepared under PFRS

Notes to Financial Statements
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27. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

27.1 Litigations

On April 6, 2015, the Bank, together with 18 other banks, filed a Petition 
for Declaratory Relief (with Urgent Application for the Issuance of a 
Temporary Restraining Order and/or a Writ of Preliminary Injunction) with 
the Regional Trial Court (RTC) of Makati City against the Department of 
Finance (DOF), through the Secretary of Finance, and the BIR, through 
the Commissioner of Internal Revenue. The case involves Revenue 
Regulations (RR) No. 4-2011 on the subject: “Proper Allocation of Costs 
and Expenses Amongst Income Earnings of Banks and Other Financial 
Institutions for Income Tax Reporting Purposes”, issued by the Secretary 
of Finance upon the recommendation of the Commissioner of Internal 
Revenue. The petition seeks the annulment of RR No. 4-2011 and other 
revenue regulations and memorandum circulars of the same tenor and 
import as it. The petition also seeks to enjoin the DOF and BIR from 
enforcing or implementing in any manner RR No. 4-2011, including the 
issuance of Final Assessment Notices (FANs) based thereon.

The case is pending with RTC Makati City, Branch 57 (Civil Case 
No. 15-287). On April 27, 2015, RTC Makati granted the Petitioner-Banks’ 
application for a writ of preliminary injunction and issued an Order 
enjoining DOF and BIR from “enforcing, carrying out, or implementing 
in any way or manner Revenue Regulations No. 4-2011 against the 
Applicants, including the issuance of [preliminary assessment notice 
(“PAN”)] or [FAN], as the case may be, based on the subject revenue 
regulations, pending litigation, unless sooner dissolved.” On June 10, 2015, 
RTC Makati issued an Order which “confirms that the writ of preliminary 
injunction currently in effect includes a prohibition against the BIR from 
ruling or deciding on any administrative matter pending before it in 
relation to the subject revenue regulations and insofar as Petitioners 
are concerned.”

27.2 Leases

As of December 31, 2015, the estimated minimum future annual rentals of 
the Bank follow:

2015 2014

Within one year P 37,916,856 P 33,972,068

More than one year but not more than five years 193,683,712 139,039,291

P 231,600,568 P 173,011,359
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27.3 Others

In the normal course of its operations, the Bank has various outstanding 
commitments and contingent liabilities such as guarantees, commitments 
to extend credit, etc., which are not reflected in the accompanying 
financial statements. The Bank recognizes in its books any losses and 
liabilities incurred in the course of its operations as soon as these become 
known and quantifiable.

As of December 31, 2015, the Bank’s management believes that losses, 
if any, from the commitments and contingencies will not have a material 
effect on the Bank’s financial statements.

The following is a summary of the Bank’s commitments and contingent 
accounts as of December 31:

Notes 2015 2014

Trust department accounts 24 P 248,792,621,653 P 219,910,191,129

Cross currency swap receivable 15 46,176,143,300 49,587,848,737

Cross currency swap payable 15 46,176,143,300 49,587,848,737

Interest rate swap receivable 15 7,226,030,000 3,056,025,000

Interest rate swap payable 15 7,226,030,000 3,056,025,000

Forward exchange bought 15 27,930,097 1,573,002,170

Forward exchange sold 15 27,930,097 1,573,002,170

Loan commitments 4.4 192,525,829 218,975,715

Spot exchange bought 150,829,200 6,722,500

Spot exchange sold 150,762,600 6,655,900

Outstanding guarantees 15 12,667,050 -

Notes to Financial Statements
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A. CET 1 CAPITAL AND BREAKDOWN OF COMPONENTS (INCLUDING 
DEDUCTIONS SOLELY FROM CET 1)

2015 2014

Paid-up common stock 940,000,000 940,000,000
Retained earnings 3,517,091,966 3,642,561,640
Other comprehensive income (108,085,195) (18,743,765)

Sub-total 4,349,006,771 4,563,817,875
Less: Regulatory Adjustments and Deduction:

Deferred income tax 58,062,433 73,634,093
Other intangible assets 13,096,454 18,215,599

Total CET 1 capital 4,277,847,884 4,471,968,183

B. TIER 1 CAPITAL AND BREAKDOWN OF COMPONENTS (INCLUDING 
DEDUCTIONS SOLELY FROM TIER 1)

2015 2014

Paid-up common stock 940,000,000 940,000,000
Paid-up perpetual and non-cumulative preferred stock 1,225,000,000 1,225,000,000
Retained earnings 3,517,091,966 3,642,561,640
Other comprehensive income (108,085,195) (18,743,765)

Sub-total 5,574,006,771 5,788,817,875
Less: Regulatory Adjustments and Deduction:

Deferred income tax 58,062,433 73,634,093
Other intangible assets 13,096,454 18,215,599

Total Tier 1 capital 5,502,847,884 5,696,968,183

C. TIER 2 CAPITAL AND BREAKDOWN OF COMPONENTS

2015 2014

General loan loss provision 181,050,261 58,690,538
Total Tier 2 capital 181,050,261 58,690,538

ON CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND CAPITAL ADEQUACY

Supplementary Management Disclosures 
(All Values in Php)

118



D. COMPUTATION OF QUALIFYING CAPITAL

2015 2014

Tier 1 capital 5,574,006,771 5,788,817,875
Tier 2 capital 181,050,261 58,690,538
Gross qualifying capital 5,755,057,032 5,847,508,413
Less: Required deductions 71,158,887 91,849,692
Total qualifying capital 5,683,898,145 5,755,658,721

The regulatory qualifying capital of the Bank consists of Tier 1 (core) capital which includes 
paid-up common and preferred, surplus including current year profit, and surplus reserves, less 
deduction for deferred income tax and other intangible assets. The other component of regulatory 
capital is Tier 2 (supplementary) capital, which is the general loan loss provision.

E. CAPITAL CONSERVATION BUFFER

2015 2014

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital 4,277,847,884 4,471,968,183
Less: CET 1 minimum requirement (6%) 1,553,751,568 1,283,727,224
Capital Conservation Buffer 2,724,096,316 3,188,240,959

Capital Conservation Buffer Ratio 10.52% 14.90%

F. CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS FOR CREDIT RISK

2015 2014

On-Balance Sheet 14,837,114,675 13,841,075,812
Off-Balance Sheet 51,172,050 43,795,000
Counterparty (Trading Book) 4,363,138,906 2,991,018,755
Total 19,251,425,631 16,875,889,567
Capital Requirements 1,925,142,563 1,687,588,957

G. CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS FOR MARKET RISK

2015 2014

Interest Rate Exposures 3,319,052,445 1,738,537,012
Foreign Exchange Exposures 561,070,295 206,316,701
Total 3,880,122,740 1,944,853,713
Capital Requirements 388,012,274 194,485,371

Supplementary Management Disclosures
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H. CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS FOR OPERATIONAL RISK

2015 2014

Basic Indicator 2,764,311,092 2,574,710,445
Total 2,764,311,092 2,574,710,445
Capital Requirements 276,431,109 257,471,045

I. COMPUTATION OF CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO - TOTAL AND TIER 1

2015 2014

Total Qualifying Capital 5,683,898,145 5,755,658,721

Credit risk-weighted assets 19,251,425,631 16,875,889,567
Market risk-weighted assets 3,880,122,740 1,944,853,713
Operational risk-weighted assets 2,764,311,092 2,574,710,445
Risk weighted assets 25,895,859,463 21,395,453,725

Total capital ratio 21.95% 26.90%
Tier 1 capital ratio 21.25% 26.63%
CET 1 ratio 16.52% 20.90%
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As of December 31, 2015 Per AFS
Adj - AFS to 
Regulatory

Regulatory Capital
CET 1 Tier 1 Tier 2 Qualifying

Common Stock 940,000,000 940,000,000 940,000,000 940,000,000
Preferred Stock 1,225,000,000 1,225,000,000 1,225,000,000
Surplus - Free/Reserve 3,517,478,510 (386,544)a 3,517,091,966 3,517,091,966 3,517,091,966
General Loan Loss Provisions - 181,050,261b 181,050,261 181,050,261
Other Comprehensive Income

Unrealized Fair Value G/L on AFS (44,790,820) (44,790,820) (44,790,820) (44,790,820)
Accumulated Actuarial G/L (63,294,376) (63,294,376) (63,294,376) (63,294,376)

Cumulative Translation Adj
5,574,393,314 180,663,717 4,349,006,771 5,574,006,771 181,050,261 5,755,057,032

Regulatory Adjustments/Deductions
Deferred Income Tax (58,062,433) (58,062,433) (58,062,433) (58,062,433)
Other Intangible Assets (13,096,454) (13,096,454) (13,096,454) (13,096,454)

5,574,393,314 109,504,830 4,277,847,884 5,502,847,884 181,050,261 5,683,898,145

(a) Various audit adjustments (386,544)
Adj - to report unsettled deals -

386,544

(b) 1% Loan Loss Prov 181,050,261
181,050,261

FULL RECONCILIATION OF ALL REGULATORY CAPITAL ELEMENTS BACK TO 
THE BALANCE SHEET IN THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Supplementary Management Disclosures
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COMPREHENSIVE EXPLANATIONS OF HOW RATIOS INVOLVING 
COMPONENTS FOR REGULATORY CAPITAL ARE CALCULATED

Regulatory Capital Ratios
CET 1 Tier 1 Qualifying

Components of Regulatory Ratios
Regulatory Capital 4,277,847,884 5,502,847,884 5,683,898,145
Risk Weighted Assets 25,895,859,463 25,895,859,463 25,895,859,463

Computation of Regulatory Ratios*

Qualifying Capital 21.95%
Risk Weighted Assets

Tier 1 Capital 21.25%
Risk Weighted Assets

CET 1 Capital 16.52%
Risk Weighted Assets

*Minimum Requirement under Basel 3 6.00% 7.50% 10.00%
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ON CREDIT RISK EXPOSURES

OFF-BALANCE SHEET (BS) ASSETS

2015

Type of Exposures
Credit 

Equivalent
Risk Weights

0% 20% 50% 75% 100% 150% Total
Guarantees Issued 12,667,050 12,667,050 12,667,050
Transaction-related 
contingencies - - -
Commitments with an 
original maturity of up to 
one (1) year 38,505,000 38,505,000 38,505,000

51,172,050 - - - - 51,172,050 - 51,172,050

Computed Risk Weight/
Capital Charge - - - - 51,172,050 - 51,172,050

2014

Type of Exposures
Credit 

Equivalent
Risk Weights

0% 20% 50% 75% 100% 150% Total
Transaction-related 
contingencies - - -
Commitments with an 
original maturity of up to 
one (1) year 43,795,000 43,795,000 43,795,000

43,795,000 - - - - 43,795,000 - 43,795,000
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Standardized credit risk weights were used in the credit assessment of 
asset exposures. Third party credit assessments were based on ratings 
of Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s, Fitch and PhilRatings on exposures to 
sovereigns, MDBs, LGUs, Government Corporations and Corporates.

For interest rate risks in the banking book (IRRBB), please refer to 2015 
NFS Section 4.2.2. Earnings at Risk (EaR) is calculated using a 1-year 
holding period and is measured on a monthly basis.

ELIGIBLE CREDIT RISK MITIGANTS INCLUDING CREDIT DERIVATIVES 
CREDIT PROTECTION GIVEN BY THE BANK 
STRUCTURED PRODUCTS 
HEDGING AND CONTINUING EFFECTIVE OF HEDGES 
SECURITIZATION STRUCTURES

Risk-weighted on balance sheet assets covered by credit risk mitigants 
are mostly exposures covered by deposits, government and corporate 
issued securities. There are no securitization exposures, no exposures 
covered by credit derivatives, no outstanding credit protection provided 
by the Bank through credit derivatives, and no outstanding investments 
in structured products. Moreover, the Bank has no outstanding accounting 
hedges. In case there are accounting hedges, the Bank performs both 
prospective and retrospective hedge effectiveness tests to monitor the 
continuing effectiveness of accounting hedges as a matter of policy.

ON EXTERNAL CREDIT ASSESSMENTS

ON INTEREST RATE RISK IN THE BANKING BOOKS

DISCLOSURE STATEMENTS ON THE FF:

Supplementary Management Disclosures
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Executive Vice President
Stella L. Cabalatungan

Senior Vice Presidents
Jonathan T. Cua 
Sonia Maribel D. Go

First Vice Presidents
Judy L. Go 
Arlene Marie H. Uson 
Cheryll B. Gaviño 
Francis Jay F. Nacino 
Ma. Clotilde G. Medalla

Vice Presidents
Jose Rene C. Carlos 
Charisse B. Recto 
Ma. Elena I. Rigor 
Eleanor D. Wee 
Beatriz Y. Zalazar 
Michele Y. Lao 
Catherine S. Choa

Senior Assistant Vice Presidents
Rossana C. Chan 
Christy K. Ortega 
Avery U. Yu 
Anna Patricia A. Dee 
Donna Marie C. Uy 
Tommy Y. Yu

Assistant Vice Presidents
Frances Ruth P. Abella 
Gina Camille G. Barrica 
Theresita G. Herrera 
Jonalyn T. See 
Antonio Jose M. Zalamea, III

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT & 
MARKETING

Senior Vice President
Gamalielh A. O. Benavides

CAPITAL MARKETS & 
ECONOMIC RESEARCH

Senior Vice President
Jose Noel M. Mendoza

Vice President
Abigail Kathryn L. Chiw

WEALTH ADVISORY & TRUST

Senior Vice President
Rafael G. Ayuste, Jr., Trust Officer

First Vice Presidents
Juan Sabino P. Lizares 
Frederick N. Tiu 
Pollyanna B. Diokno

Vice Presidents
Patricia Lei S. Alvarillo 
Edlyn L. Quiroz 
Steven C. Te 
Blandina Uvyhilda B. Vicente 
Dalisay S. Molas 
Lilli Ann D.S. Bautista 
Evelyn K. Sy

Senior Assistant Vice Presidents
Rowena Remedios I. Estrella 
Maria Vilma D. Fabian 
Michael Geronimo G. Martin 
Janella Marie P. Amoranto

Assistant Vice Presidents
Julian Raphael B. Favila 
Marie Therese T. Chan 
Andre Ian D. Chua

Management Directory
As of December 31, 2015
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FINANCIAL CONTROL

Vice President
Mary Grace O. Lojo

Senior Assistant Vice Presidents
Maria Lourdes M. Sevilla 
Jones Mark L. Chan

Assistant Vice President
Rosalia G. Bautista

OPERATIONS

Senior Vice President
Martin B. Ordoñez

Vice President
Ma. Ramona T. Torres

COMPLIANCE AND LEGAL

Senior Vice President
Federico P. Tancongco

Senior Assistant Vice President
Mary Elizabeth H. Bayhon

Assistant Vice President
Wenceslao Christian B. Fernandez

RISK MANAGEMENT

Vice President
Jorge E. Dioneda

Senior Assistant Vice President
Ma. Rachelle T. Guiang 
Ramon Fortunato S. Ybiernas

HUMAN RESOURCES & 
ADMINISTRATION

First Vice President
Ma. Remedios B. Lapuz
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PRODUCTS

Peso and Foreign Currency Settlement Accounts 

Multi-Currency Deposits  

Foreign Exchange  

Multi-Currency Fixed Income 

Securities 

Derivatives

SERVICES - WEALTH ADVISORY

Financial Planning 

Strategic Investment Advisory 

Investment Management (Asset Allocation, 

Portfolio Construction, Investment Selection)

SERVICES - TRUST

Estate Planning Advisory
Living Trust

• Estate Trust Settlement
• Professional Pension Trust
• Educational Trust
• Other Special Purpose Trust

Non-Living Trust
• Funded Testamentary Trust
• Trusteeship Under Will

Life Insurance Trust

Legacy, Charitable, Endowment Trust
Special Trust
Fiduciary Heir Under Trust
Usufruct Under Trust
Successive Estate Trust
Guardianship Trust

Agency and Special Services
Paying and Collecting Agency
Administration
Executorship

Products and 
Services
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HEAD OFFICE AND 
MAKATI LOUNGE

Ground to 2nd and 
10th Floors 
BDO Equitable Tower 
8751 Paseo de Roxas 
Makati City

Telephone: 
(632) 848-6300 

PRIVATE BANK LOUNGES

GREENHILLS
Mezzanine,  
BDO Ortigas Building 
209 Ortigas Avenue  
Greenhills, San Juan City

Telephone: 
(632) 702-6290 
(632) 721-0042

BINONDO
9/F BDO Tower 
Dasmariñas corner 
Marquina Streets 
Binondo, Manila

Telephone:  
(632) 702-6286 
(632) 243-0225 
(632) 243-3844

ALABANG
7/F Tower 2, Insular Life 
Corporate Center 
Insular Drive, Filinvest 
Corporate City  
Alabang, Muntinlupa City

Telephone: 
(632) 771-2381 
(632) 771-2383 

QUEZON CITY
4/F BDO Delta Quezon 
Avenue Building 
Quezon Avenue Extension 
West Triangle, 
Quezon City

Telephone: 
(632) 588-9812

CEBU
14/F Cebu Tower 
Cebu Business Park 
Mindanao corner Bohol Avenues 
Cebu City

Telephone: 
(6332) 236-6769 
(6332) 236-4648 
(6332) 236-6177

DAVAO
2/F BDO C.M. Recto Building 
383 C.M. Recto Street 
Davao City

Telephone: 
(6382) 225-5003 

BDO Private Bank Offices
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BDO Equitable Tower 
8751 Paseo de Roxas 

Makati City 1226, Philippines 
+632 848-6300 

www.bdo.com.ph/privatebank
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